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A MESSAGE FROM OUR CHAIR

As we prepared to celebrate CAMFED’s 25th annives&§19, none of us could have foreseen the
extraordinary range of achievements and successes theweuld bring— nor the extraordinary new
challenges we would meet just months later in thedaf a global pandemic.

In 2019, first and foremost, we significantly surpaseadstrategic plan target of supporting one million
girls through secondary school over 5 years. As yithisee in this report, CAMFED in fact supported over
1.2 million girls in that period, of whom only 22%re directly funded by international donors. We bgke
that the CAMFED model of previous clients and localneanity partners stepping up at scale as
philanthropists to support the next generation of githrough schools is now a proven example of
sustainable development unparalleled in the sector.

Three key events in 2019 were hugely important isirgj awareness and recognition of CAMFED’s unique
model amongst a range of new supporters and stakehaldat the start of the year we were delighted by
the success of the CAMFED Gala, hosted in New Y@RIN-ED USA’s Board of Trustees, and graced by the
presence of guests including Annie Lennox, our Palwdia Gillard, young African women representing the
CAMFED Association (CAMA), and many of our key Norhidem donors and supporters.

In May | was personally thrilled to support CAMFED’sgiee at the RHS Chelsea Flower Show, in which
designer Jilayne Rickard created a garden that broughtlabtirecreation of the Zimbabwean landscape to
central London, and delivered a powerful message abouhy educated women in Africa applying modern
climate-appropriate agricultural technigues to feedthfamilies and school communities. The CAMFED
Garden won not only a Gold Medal but also the BBC leso@hoice Award, demonstrating conclusively
how our message resonated amongst the general public.

Finally in December members of the CAMFED Associatom recognised at the COP25 meeting

in Madrid with a United Nations Global Climate ChangerdwThe work on CAMFED’s nexyéar plan is
almost complete, and CAMFED's leadership team in pestiig with the CAMFED Association have
committed to an excefonal scaling up of our previous ambitions, in a truepdification of “the multiplier
effect,” planning to support 5 million girls throliggchool in the next 5 years.

CAMFED’s new strategic plan will also build on oterpnise development programme teet targets
relating not only to the number of businesses crealbydyoung women but also for the first time to
measure the number of jobs created, introducing newtrits to our already rigorous impact measures.
None of this can be delivered without a significant cpuip of our Guide programmes, and we will
therefore invest in the training of many more Lear@uides, Transition Guides, Agriculture Guides and
Business Guides across the CAMFED network.

At the time of writing, however, | must acknowledifpe impact that the COVID-19 global crisis is having on
CAMFED's plans and activities. Many schools in Adricelosed, and it may be that our ambitions for the
next 5 years will have to be delivered over a longmiqal than we had hoped. Meanwhile CAMFED and the
CAMFED Association are responding to the crisis byiging outreach to rural areas, delivering critical
resources, food and supplies to vulnerable childtesining young women as para-educators to offer
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remote learning and psycho-social support, and secuwraqgtal and financial resources to keep key rural
businesses afloat. This relief effort is a continuatdlCAMFED’s commitment to build resilience in
deprived rural communities, to invest in young worreléadership and livelihoodsna to help
communities cope with the social and economic effedtthe crisis.

We are as always immensely grateful for the supportwfsupporters, donors and stakeholders
who enable CAMFED and the CAMFED Association to wehiis vital work.

\\A\»Mh (WA

Miranda Curtis
Chair of Trustees
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WHERE WE WORK

CAMFED works in partnership with communities, govemrsehools, and education authorities in Ghal
Malawi, Tanzania, Zambia, and Zimbabwe.

OUR MISSION

As the most effective strategy to tackle poveatyd inequality, CAMFED multiplies educational
opportunities for girls and empowers young womerbecome leaders of change. Our focus is on girls
young women in rural areas of si8aharan Africa. This is where girls face acute disadvaatadjgrhere
their empowerment will have a transformative impact.

OUR STRATEGIC GOALS

Unlock new resources in order tmultiply girls’ educational opportunitiesThe headline goal of our
Strategic Plan 20159 was to support one million adolescent girls throsgicondary school within five
years- a goal we surpassed by more than 20% in 2019. Walswmenorking with schools to improve the
learning environment so that young people graduate witk tequisite skills to succeed.

Unleash new potential in order t@nable educated women to lead chang®@/e are investing in the
rapidly growing CAMFED Association of young womenatddavith CAMFED support, enabling memb
to transition to secure livelihoods and step up asrepreneurs and leaders.

Ignite new action to accarate change by extending our influence and impa@e are scaling our impac
by sharing replicable models with government and otpartners. We aim to show the international
community what can be achieved, at pace and at scale,ifist gducation.
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OUR OPERATIONAL MODEL

CAMFED is made up of three interworking and interdepengarts. Through the synergy of these three
parts, CAMFED is able to deliver a resilient, highiigiexit and ultimately sustainable programme that truly
serves the needsf our clients, and multiplies the impact of donor ist@ment:

v

The CAMFED Association
The network of women leaders founded by former CADFlients, who organise and act on behalf of gil
and young women

CAMFED Champions
Members of the communities we work with who activelyampion and support the advancement of girls ¢
young women

CAMFED Operatiohs

1 CAMFED Operations describes the registered charitye wid CAMFED Association and CAMFED Champions make up
the wider CAMFED ecosystem. The overlap indicates tima¢ staff employed by the charity are also membershef t
CAMFED Association (because they are former clientexample) or of CAMFED Champions, e.g. as members of
Mother Support Groups.
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STRATEGIC REPORT: SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES IN 2019

In 2019, the final year of our current strategic plam successfully delivered against our core objectives
1. Unlocking new resources to multiply educationgppportunities for girls:

We surpassed the headline goal set at the start of oye&r strategic plan, to support one million girls in
secondary school. By the end of 2019, we had suppatig@5,336 girls. This support includes financial
as well as social suppo#ttailored bursaries to meet school-going costs, intigdees and uniforms, as
well as community-led initiatives, including school maajects run by Mother Support Groups.

Central to our model is the ever-increasing levelugdmort provided by CAMFED Association (CAMA)
members, who ensure that girls have what they needtay in school, learn and thrive. As Learner
Guides in schools, thousands of these young leaderplaring a critical role in supporting children’s
learning and social development, delivering life aradéng skills, and coordinating extra-curricular
study groups. They are facilitating the introductionnefiv resources into schools, including educational
technology in the form of mobile learning apps, eders, and a new animated TV series based on our
My Better Worldife skills curriculum. Outside of the classroongyttare engaging extensively with
school and local authorities to secure the rights ofdhanarginalised children most ‘invisible’ to local
authorities, including girls at risk of, or sufferjradpuse and child marriages, and children affected by
disability. With young women at the front line ofses, including the devastation wreaked by Cyclone
Idai in Zimbabwe and Malawi, we have appreciated thelfltti and generosity of donor partners who
have stepped up behind our ‘firstsponders.’

In 2019, more than 3.6 million children at our partrsahools benefitted from initiatives to support their
school attendance and learning, including through ffedkills and wellbeing curriculum delivered by
CAMFED Learner Guides, and community-led initiativasitipprove school infrastructure and safety.

2. Unleashing new potential by enabling young womémlead change:

We have continued to develop targeted programmeswbport for girls at the point of leaving
secondary school, at a time when young women face adhokportunity and resources, culminating in
pressure to marry young, or migrate to urban centrasdxploitative labour. Led and facilitated by
young women in the CAMFED Association, our 6-mdrdinsition Programme provides mentorship,
skills and resources, supporting young women to dtaginess, seek employment, and access further
education. The programme includes financial literacyiess planning and advice, reproductive health
information, and leadership training. After the initighining, young women can gain access to further
expert training in specialised skills, includinglimate-smart agriculture delivered by Agriculture Gasd

a programme we started to expand in 2019 after a succaegdbt phase, and which was recognised with
the UN Climate Action Award in December 2019. We ladés@ continued to develop funding
mechanisms in response to the challenges faced byiagmntrepreneurs. Established in all five
countries where CAMFED works, the Transition Prograinas already benefitted more than 97,000
young women.

We continue to pursue new partnerships with governmeiisil society organisations and the private
sector to expand opportunities for young women, irdihg through internships and by receiving
technical support to grow their businesses.

In 2019, our CAMFED Association of women leadersag¢eldiovith CAMFED support grew to 157,005 as
more girls completed school. This structured peermarpand leadership network, with its own
Constiution and representatives elected from local to natioleadel, is core to every aspect of CAMFED’s



programme and our ability to scale our impact withoutitgssight of those most vulnerable. On
average, each member of the network is supportingghmore girls in her community to go to school,
multiplying the original investment in her educatiddur evidence demonstrates that when young
women’s income increases, so does the proportion tihaty commit to philanthropicsupport to children
in school.

3. Igniting new action by extending our influencend impact:

In 2019, the Center for Universal Education at the Birggg Institution(CUE) launched a Real-time
Scaling Lab with CAMFED in Tanzania. The process costaed®lders from schools, Ministries, civil
society representatives, members of the CAMFED Assati&IAMFED executive staff, and Brookings
researchers to develop a strategy for scaling CAMAERi®er Guide Programme. The lab takes a
collective and iterative approach, based on real-time datd learning. The Tanzania Real-time Scaling
Lab will contribute to the global evidence base oniagafjuality education interventions, sharing
challenges, lessons learnt, and the adaptive learningagmihes taken.

CAMFED Association leaders shared their expertise oniiadies to support vulnerable children to
learn— and communities to thrive— on local, national, and global platforms. This includgzhnel on

the barriers to gender equality convened by The Que&ommonwealth Trust with The Dhass of
Sussex on International Women’s Day, a CAMFED Gardeandi&ating climatesmart growing
techniques for school communities at the Chelsea Fidsle®w (now homed at the Eden Project), and
the Obama Foundation’s Leaders: Africa Convening. Owcadvculminated in the CAMFED
Association accepting the UN Global Climate Action Aaa@OP25 in December 2019, highlighting the
vital importance of girls’ education and women'’s leadigpsin facing the consequences of, and reducing
the impact of, climate change.



OUR HEADLINE GOAL
EDUCATING ONE MILLION ADOLESCENT GIRLS WITHINRBIVE YEA

OUR PROGRAMMES




CAMFED focuses on improving girls’ educational acegpsrience and achievements in tandem with
developing young women'’s confiden@gency and leadership. The result is a virtuous cjfateugh which
the investment in girls’ education pays eviacreasing dividends in the activism of educated ypwomen,
which in turn raises girls’ aspirations and success.

We work from the premisehiat achieving the fundamental transformation of girls’ gpects necessitates
transformation of their context if we are to embed loteym impact. We do not work with girls in isolation
and then expect them, as young women, to take respdtisitior driving socio-cultural change; we take the
strong stand that this responsibility cannot sit origjishoulders, and that we need instead to create the
context in which they, as educated and empowered yowognen, can join forces with othersmen,

women, traditional leaders, local authoritiego lead this change.



UNLOCK NEW RESOURGERTIPLY GIRLS'URDATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES




Witness, CAMFED Scholar, Tanzania

“When | complete my studies | will be happy. It is npehibat | will perform well in my examinations satas
meet my dreams.

Witness grew up in a single parent family in rural Bare When her mother became unwell, it was
increasingly challenging for Witness and her two gjslito go about their day-to-day lives, let alone attend
school. Frederick, a former teacher and member of dual Parent Support Group, helped to identify
Witness for CAMFED support. He now also acts as \Wgitgaardian and she lives with him and one of his
own children. With this wraparound support, Witnesshisving at school and is one of the top students in
her class. She is deeply committed to her educatiod, tarfinding a good career so she can assist othes girl
to do the same.



Senior Chief CAMFED’s Multidimensional Approach
Ngabu CAMFED partners with 6,853 schools, communities andatibn authorities across 161
rural (and some peri




Mphatso, Secondary Scholar, Malawi

“] see many problems in my education because my pasgatsot able to pay my school fees because they
are not employed. And here in school | have not niimks or exercise books that can help'me

Just like thousands of other girls living in rural Ma)dahe chance of completing education seemed remote
for Mphatso. Poverty and rural isolation barred her pdhwards. Recognising her plight, members of the
local CAMFED Development Committee identified hestgport. She received her school entitlements and
support from a trained Teacher Mentor. Mphatso lovegace and mathematics. Inspired by a young woman
from her community who has completed education andrieal as a nurse, Mphatso would like to become a
healthcare professional.

Rhoda Komboni, Mother Support Group Chair, Malawi

"We have managed to bring back 3 girls who have dedpput of school. It is our wish that these girlmam
in school and complete secondary education

For several years Rhoda has been a community actitistclsirs a CAMFED Mother Support Group, a group
of parents who donate their time and resources to kebpdren in school. Rhoda works closely not just with
other parents but with teachers and local leaders topde practical suppor—from providing guidance and
counselling to marginalised students to offering sexaral reproductive health information. In addition, the
committee joined together to purchase land and start aafirscale business. Using the profits from selling
pigeon peas, ground nuts and soya beans, they supidren with school fees and supplies.



Improving Children’s Learning and Wellbeing

Mweene, Learner

In 2019, we adapted and introduced the Learner Guide Rragre at primary schog
in Malawi, followin
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children over their 18nonth commitment, mentor vulnerable children, and caah families to schools and
services.

Khadija, Secondary Scholar and Dotto, Learner Guitknzania

“I have changed through this programme because | leeen able to know how to value someone, care and
love.”

Khadija’s family struggled farovide the material support she needed to go to schampacting her self-
esteem.

Dotto, a CAMFEDained Learner Guide at Khadija’s school, recognisesetlthallenges and stepped in to
lend emotional and material support. Dotto realised ttdtadija would regularly miss school because she did
not have access to sanitary wear. With Dotto’s suppdrgdija not only received socks, a uniform, and
sanitary wear, she also found a role model who has helggdstay in school. Khadija learned the importance
of self-esteem through th#ly Better WorldProgramme, delivered by Dotto, and has the confidesite

needs to thrive in school, and to help others.

Fatima, CAMFED Association Core Trainer of LearnetdspMalawi

“I was the first girl in my village to obtain the Malie@ertificate of Education. Now | am a teacher in tranin
a relatable role model to students. As CAMFED Assatiatembers, we bring our lived experience to the
classroom. We know the pain of exclusion, what itgdikle to be an orphan, the difficulties students face at
home, and the pressure girls may feel to start relasioips. | am also a trainer of CAMFED Association
‘Learner Guides'young women who support vulnerable children in losahools. We are ‘big sisters’ and
children confide in us. That means we can work wittosthand communities to solve the problems they
face. We deliver a life skills curriculum calhy Better World CAMFED Association members helped create
this curriculum, using our own stories, to helpldhen learn, pass exams, set goals, and plan how teaehi
them. We are helping to improve the quality of educati and the learning environment. For example, we
explore children’s strengths and their goals, and teally helps them focus on what is possible, whatthe
can achieve- this gives them confidenceand we see them go on to get really good results.”



From 11 October 2017 to 10 January 2018 CAMFED padtmétte the UK Department for International
Development (DFID) on a public UK Aid Match appealise awareness of the issue of child marriage in $
Saharan Africa and introduce CAMFED’s uniqueisaluiVe raised a total of £2,780,616.03 during the
appeal, including match funding from the UK governmaifil,332,267.91 on donations by private UK
residents. The money raised is supporting a projbat will enable more than 16,000 marginalised ginls i
rural areas of Zambia who are at high risk of early magrtagcontinue their education at their local
secondary schools. They will benefit from the mentgrsupport of a network of young women school
graduates, who are joining with local governmentdaommunity authorities to uphold girls’ rights and
ensure they have the necessary support to attendosttand succeed. The training of these young women
graduates— members of the CAMFED Associatietas Learner Guides took place in February 2019. Lea
Guides have been delivering tMy Better Worldife skills and wellbeing curriculum since March 204&0ss
15 rural districts in Zambia, guiding and mentoringdsints, and acting to prevent child marriages:

new Learner partner schools in Zambia| marginalised children were| bicycles were supplied
Guides were have implemented the reached by this programme for community outreach
trained in Zambia programme in 2019 work

Naomi, one of the First Learner Guides trained in Zam

“The teachers in the school where | go, they are geod. They are impressed with medahey love the
programme. The learners love it too!”

After her father died when she was just a few montiie, Naomi’s mother was left to raise her new baby
alone. Their daily lives were characterised by povartgt hardship until CAMFED stepped in with the
necessary financial and psycho-social support to alloanN& complete her education, join the CAMFED
Association, and become one of the first Learner Gaitdgined in Zambia. Naomi’s activism extends well
beyond the classroom: when a girl in her communggdme pregnant, and, without family support, felt she
had to drop out of school, Naomi and her family took tjirl in, encouraging her to stay in school. Each
afternoon, Naomi coached her through her schoolwgticularly in English and Mathematics, where she
had fallen behind. She saved up to buy stationeryhst the girl could return to school.

The partanimated, part live-actioMy Better Worldseries, aimed at adolescents, was inspired by CAMFE
life skills and wellbeing curriculum of the same mart was created by Impact(Ed) International (formerly
Discovery Learning Alliance) in collaboration with CAMFSDvell as with students and educators across
Africa. The series started airing on Kenyan televigid019, with many episodes exceeding two million
viewers, and is being used as a tool by some GAMEearner Guides in Ghana, as well as in 2,000 schog
that are part of Impact(Ed)’s classrodmsed learning initiatives in Kenya, Ghana and Nigeriasdites

follows the adventures of six African teenagers as tlaeg scenarios true to life, and ma#tecisions relating
to their education, family relationships and friendsi Their stories are interspersed with profilesedHlife
African role models, including of girls supported®&MFED. The series is already inspiring importardgiiel
and posiive action in schools in Africa, including prevegtearly marriages. Impact(Ed) is negotiating with
broadcasters to bring the series to other networksim-Saharan Africa in 2020.




UNLEASH NEW POTENTIAL: ENABLE EDUCATED YOUNQ W/OBMAINCHANGE

THE CAMFED ASSOCIATION (CAMA)
A powerful movement of 157,005 young women leadees)d counting

CAMFED's interventions have had a demonstrable impagirtsi school enrolment, retention and
attainment, as well as on the delay in average age of mar@gl motherhood among young women, and
their increased control over resources. The resules\asible in the young women who have joined the
CAMFED Association, the network of women leaders eddoatth CAMFED support. They are now
teachers, nurses, doctors, entrepreneurs and lawyers;yraae among the first to reach this level in their

communities. They are also taking up leadership posstimmthe national and international stage.

Each member of the Association, on average, suppoushan three girls to go to school with her own
resources. With a membership of more than 157,000, agving year-on-year as more girls complete
secondary school and join, the power of this leaderstgpvork multiplies exponentially the initial
investment in girls’ educain.



Angeline, Engineering Student at Kwekwe Polytechidonbabwe

“Engineering is male dominated but things are changmg.iWWomen like me are fighting in their numbers to
change the belief. Thanks to CAMFED, we are empavterchange the world, to turn the tide of povertyda
to become responsible citizens and leaders of tomafrow

Angeline’s life changed forever when her father pass@ay, and she and her mother, who was no longer
able to work, moved in with her grandfather. Withaihie resources to continue her education, Angeline
would have dropped out of school. When she was selééor CAMFED support, a new future opened up. In
spite of her family’s financial crisis, a difficult nep\vand an illness, Angeline worked hard to complete
secondary school and earn the grades she needed ftatgievel. Now, with investment through the UK
Department for International Development (DFBijls’ Education Challenge Transitions programme,
Angeline has gone on to study Electrical Enginednsigumentation and Control Systems, breaking down
gender stereotypes. She wants to be the best instratagechnician, and looks forward to being able to
support her mother.

Dorcas, CAMFED Association Social Entrepreneur, &han
“Advocacy without action is meaningless - families simegd cash in their hands

Dorcas comes from a background of extreme povertydisddvantage. Her mother was married as a child,
and Dorcas lost three of her eight siblings to infectmd disease. Through education, her life has been
transformed, and she now runs her own organisati®acial Inclusion and Girls’ Education (ASMakigh
supports women in her community who never had themt@to go to school, as well as more girls in school
With a Board comprising the District Girl Child Offi€@ueen Mother and other community stakeholders,
Dorcas says their mission is to advocate fhose who are unable to get their basic needs... larterms of

girls’ education: teenage mothers, primary and secopdahool girls She has set up a cooperative of 319
women to weave intricate and beautiful baskets, which aow sold internationally. A further 81 boys and
men do leatherwork. For each basket sold, the coapee donates sanitary packs to girls at local schools, as
well as providing sexual and reproductive health inforimato girls, advocating against child marriage, and
delivering financial literacy training to women. Doraasiin goal is social change; commercial success is the
way to achieve this. One member of the cooperativedarmes 47 baskets in a month. She has financed her
farm and started trading in straw. 175 women have opebadk accounts, but also use a community savings
scheme.



Facilitating Young Women'’s Transition to Independernand Leadership

Dorren,




Mercellina, Transition Guide, Ghana

“We’ve had so mangpportunities. We have loans that are granted to GAW Association members, we
have entrepreneurship training and socialisatiore ¥¢ to schools and there are large crowds that wie t@,
so personally it has built up my confidence, my spesuth how to associate with other peogle

After finishing school with CAMFED support, Meicaljoined the CAMFED Association and trained as a
Transition Guide. In this role Mercellina delivefs $kills sessions in schools, offers peer mengptinschool
graduates, and works with CAMFED Mother Support Grougalvanise support for girls’ education. She
hopes to launch a social enterprise to equip young muahveith income-generating skills.

By the end of 2019;

Whitney, Transition Guide, Zimbabwe

“The Transition Guide Programme is a helping hangtmg women completing lower secondary school, who
are supported on choosing their career pathways. We tfiem financial educatios-including safer ways to
earn money, saving, and budgetirgand financial support. The business skills we shave helped a large
number of young women to become small-scale businessrewg also help young women through
education on sexual and reproductive health, to makersdecisions in life, to make positive choicesiptess
Both Transition Guides and school leavers learnlifeais not all about completing school and goingitban
areas in search of greener pastures in order to eaoney, where they end up being abused and taken
advantage of as minors and also as ‘womelmstead, we come up with different but safer waysaon

money through income generating projects to turn tlietof poverty— such as gardening, poultry, rabbit
and goat-rearing, setting up grocery stores, or praidg and selling refreshments. The Transition Guide
programme is vital for every young woman out there hesesit has proved beyond reasonable doubt to be a
life changing programmeé.



Partnering to Support Young Women in Education, deeship, Enterprise and
Employment

Opening up new employment opportunities through vational qualifications for CAMFED
‘Guides’

In 2019, Pearson and CAMFED adapted our vocational Y Bui&dfication for Learner Guides to make it
accessible to all the young women acting as voluntéeiides’ in CAMFED’s programmenet just Guides
working in schools but also those supporting girlsheey graduate school, and those mentoring young
women to set up and grow local enterprises. The remsialso reflect a greater emphasis on employability
skills, and new content has been introduced on togigsh as sexual and reproductive health, and
information technology. The revised BTEC qualificatias launched in Zimbabwe, Tanzania and Zambia
during 2019 and is projected to reach a further 4,5@®didates over the next three years.

Vimbayi, BTEC Graduate, Wedza District, Zimbabwe

“The BTEC certificate assisted me to find employmentmagea to apply to be a school bursar. | attached
the BTEC certificate to my CV and application. Whey ithceived my application the preference was given to
me and | was invited to an interview. | got the emplogtnéearners at the school now see a School Bursar
who has a BTEC certificate, who's good at ICT,saalr@le model in the community and at the school.”

Vimbayi is a BTEC graduate based in Wedza District, ZimabAlfter earning her BTEC, Vimbayi secured a job
as a School Bursar at her local secondary school. Wigesctiool learnt about the various skills assessed by
the BTEC, and particularly its focus on IT skillsadmeinistration widened the scope of Vimbayi's role. Now
she is also an ICT Facilitator, supporting studertts tlveir computer work.

Stepping up holistic support throughout young woménlife journeys

In 2019, new partners stepped up to support CAMFE®listic, multidimensional approach to girls’
education. In Tanzania, for example, CAMFED and KilagtAhopies launched a major new funding
partnership, providing direct support to over 30,0§idls and young women at critical stages in their life
journeys at secondary school and beyond. It will pfevfinancial and material support enabling 4,000 of the
most marginalised girls to complete a secondary educate will also train over 1,400 Learner Guides to
provide learning and social support to girls in schdble partnership will significantly support the
development and scaling of CAMFED'’s Business and lagec@uide programme, through which over 1,200
members of the CAMFED Association will provideedoglised mentorship for young women establishing
businesses to achieve secure livelihoods. Ultimates/are planning to reach 19,000 young entrepreneurs
over the course of the grant..

Supporting young women'’s entrepreneurship

CAMFED supports young women with financial literacybarsiness training, business grants, mentoring and
support through the CAMFED Association. We estalifikhges to business development services through
our partnerships with local government, traditional authi@s, private industry and financial service
providers. They, in turn, can provide additional teiciah support, advice, and new opportunities for women
to start and grow businesses. This is vital in a canérere unpaid agricultural labour remains the norm. We
listen and learn from Association members running besses, so we can collectively support women to
overcome the hurdles they face. In 2019, we visitéd/AEED Association entrepreneurs across all districts in
Zimbabwe, for example, to find out how young women bansupported to deal with the currency crisis, and
what they need for their businesses to thrive. A plaignimeeting in October brought together CAMFED
Association business leaders and executive team mesnioediscuss insights and learnings, including a deep
dive into CAMFED’s unique way of breaking down gehdgiers by reaching women ‘invisible’ to service
providers, and considered ‘unbankable’ by traditionatitutions, who are not only supported to build their
own businesses, but then cascade their knowledge amymmore peers, collectively changing the status quo.



CAMFED provides financial training and grants to youmgen wishing to start or expand local businesses

investment through the Girls’ Education Challengentdned by the UK Government in 2012 as a 14
year commitment to reach the most marginalised girls, &éswved CAMFED to contialits support to
cohorts of adolescent girls at secondary school in Zlm®, Tanzania and Zambia, and especially post F@
in the transition to secure livelihoodg.he support includes training of Learner Guides, dbagesupporting
young women graduates to form viable group businessasspart of our Transition Programme in Zimbab
and Tanzania in 2019, for example, we provided trairang, disbursed ‘practice’ grants (originally intendeg
for individuals) tagroupsof CAMFED Association members. This allowed youngwtorpool their
resources to buy business machinery, for example vaork together to achieve more.

In Tanzania, this activity has also included other inrigeatomponents, such as internships, where older
graduates are offeringdnds-on learning opportunities in their businesseshte new graduating cohort.

Young women in Wedza, Zimbabwe, first came up with ¢bllective approach, combining their grants to
purchase machines for their businesses, such as pdauritér processig and popcorn machines. This
venture was recorded as best practice for all distriotseplicate, given its inherent sustainability and
scalability. Transition learners used their grants toghase sewing machines, water pumps, Freezit (ice p
machines, and chip fryers, allowing them to add valuexisting produce from fields and gardens, achievi
higher profit margins. Machines are being used at eluktvel to benefit a large group of young women
participating in the Transition Programme, enhancingrte@gagement and participation in the programme
while allowing them to further build on their finaradiliteracy skills. These women will, in turn, becoane
valuable resource in mentoring and supporting inconlggyners into the Transition Progranemacting as
positive role models in their communities.

young women school young women school | young women provided| young women trained by
graduates reached graduates reached | with internship support the Small Industries
through financial services through financial and information kits in | Development Organisatio
outreach in Zimbabwe* services outreach in Tanzania* in Tanzania*
Tanzania*

*Iin the annual period ending March 2019

In Ghana and Malawi, CAMFED'’s strategic partnership wétiviastercard Foundation aims to support girls
to complete their secondary education, and young wornteemake a successful transition to higher
education, enterprise or employment. As a result of oallaboration, we are seeing uplifted learning
outcomes and increased confidence amang

business and community gihlack projects from current and former tertiary Schelan 2019, 845
Mastercard Foundation Scholars at the secondary schoel \eere supported to attend leadership campsii
Malawi, with sessions on topics including career pesgion, community giveack anddadership skills, and
had the chance to hear from female professionals andensity students. One 16 year old participant
commented: My favourite session was about leadership becawderb the camp | was doubting [that] | ca
be a leader, but the campas given me confidence

The launch of a Mastercard Foundation Scholars EntreprehguFund in Ghana was one of several new
ongoing ventures as part of the Transition Programnie Fund gives current and formes

the opportunity to apply for capital, to support theoleas for sustainable and scalable businesses that arg
also making a social impact. In October 2019, 22 Scheare selected after successfully applying for the




scheme. They have been awarded funding for theiin®sses and given access to enterprise training thro
the Kumasi Hive.

Young women supported through the partnership contindeadlemonstrate their leadership on a global

stage. In 2019Esnath Divasoni was a shining example of this: In#ughe travelled to Kigala, Rwanda to
participate in the Mastercard Foundation’s annual Baobaimi®it, where she was awarded a Resolution
Project Fellowship and funding to start a sustainabledhfarm. In December, she graduated from EART
University, Costa Rica and attended the 2019 UN ClimaagehConference (COP25).




Young Women'’s Philanthropy through the CAMFED Asdmria
Winnie
Mweembo

Angela, Secondary Scholar, Ghana

“At a point, | had to stay at home because my fathedd@oot afford my exams fees and provide the items |
needed for school... [Now] I will no longer have ttaager my life by gathering shea nwsd searching for
firewood in the bush to sell to buy my basic schoetlsé

Angela, a 17-year-old secondary school student from Ghalnast lost her grip on education due to

poverty. She lives with her father and six siblinga remote district. Her father often had to prioritisegth
family’s basic needs over school going costs. Aftarihg of her situation, young women in the CAMFED
Association stepped in to provide Angela with the sapgghe needed to complete her studies. Angela is on
track to becoming an independent, self-reliant yowmgman like her role models in the CAMFED Association.
She hopes to become a nurse.



Thanks to the support of the Girls Opportunity Allienaprogramme of the Obama Foundation, CAMFED
reached 2,219 vulnerable adolescent girls across GRarania, and Zimbabwe in 2019. Donations for {
programme were raised through a crovidnding platform, allowing individuals from arouncetivorld to
contribute. Donations went directly to four district CAMFESsociation chapters: Bawku West and Builsal
North, Ghana;Kilolo, Tanzania; and Chikomba East, Zimbabwe. CAMB&flafisn members in these
districts use their deep local expertise to identifyd sypport girls most in need, providing individualised
support, including paying school fees, and providjimts with school uniforms, school supplies, and sawit
wear.

Our young women leaders also identified girls wiaal dropped out of school and worked with their faesl
and communities to bring them back. In Bawku West, @GHanexample, 33 of the 368 girls reached had
previously dropped out of school, and were supportede-enroll. Madina, a 12-year-old, was one such
student. When CAMFED Association members heard thabati@lropped out of school because she coul
afford school materials, they supported her toearol, providing mentorship as well as buying thpies
she needed, including a new uniforsgndals, notebooks, and pencils. Madina, who aspiregta lawyer,
was overjoyed and made this pledge to the CAMFED Adsocimembers: I'am happy for the support and
your words of advice. | will do my best to make yaugr’ CAMFED Association members will continue t
support these girls and monitor their progress througchool, providing material resources as well agisgr
as powerful role modelswomen from the girls’ own communities, with similaadkgrounds, who complete
school and are now paying it forward.

Sophia and HaniphaCAMFED Association Learner Guide and Secondarye8tud
Tanzania

“As women we have the strength, we must unite andeespach other, work together to bring about change
in our society

Hanipha is flourishing with the encouragement and mesliigp of CAMFED Learner Guide Sophia. They first
met during one of the wellbeing sessions that Sopéals at Haipha's school. With other CAMFED
Association members, Sophia also took the time to Yollp with the students outside the classroom.

Seeing that Hanipha's challenging family circumstarefe®ér vulnerable to school drop out, Sophia stepped
in with financial support. She ensured Hanipha had thiéoam, shoes, books, and other essentials she
needed to remain in education. Hanipha'’s favorite sabje Civics and she hopes to train as a lawyer. She wi
have the chance to join the CAMFED Association and supyoe girls in turn, just as Sophia does.

Building classrooms in Ghana

In Ghana, CAMFED Association in members in the West Manipistrict constructed a three-unit classroom
block with the support of community members, comm@dtin August 2019. Members organised a community
durbar in the Kinkandina community to officially hane thlock over to the Ghana Education Service (GES) in
September, with CAMFED Association National Chair, Yarkade Liman, officiating.



On 14 March 2019, Cyclone Idai devastated parts of Mal&wibabwe, and Mozambique. Millions were
impacted by the disaster, losing homes, farms, jobs, schools. Many families in our partner communitie
were devastated, with homes and livelihoods washed awaylengthools suffered serious damage.

; a CAMFED Association member from Nsanje distridiawi, said that the costfdood spiked after
the cyclone, because most farms were washed away. Matsylgst all of their school supplies in the flood
and without food or these materials, many dropped outschool. Some even got married because of foo
insecurity.

The CAMFEBssociation, in affected partner districts, ralliegppart and worked together to help the
families most devastated by the cyclonk Nsanje alone, the CAMFED Association was ableisb 568
people. Lena, the mother of a primary school studentfanje district, lost the roof of her home in the
cyclone and the rain that followed destroyed mostloé family’s possessions. In the aftermath of the stpri
the family struggled to buy food and they were urtegn if their son would be able to continuetsml. The
CAMFED Association identified Lena’s family to redede from their fund. They donated metal sheets to
replace the roof of

accepted into secondary school. She says of the CAMIB&dgiation, These girls are doing a very
commendable job in our communities

The CAMFED Association not only provided material@ipp families andstudents, but also provided
emotional support. They encouraged families to avaidd marriage and girls to stay in school, despite th
obvious challenges. One student found this particelacouragement very helpful. She was in primary sch
when the cglone hit and her family lost their home. Forceditelin a temporary shelter on the site of the
destroyed house and without their garden, her familylcbnot afford to replace the school materials that
were destroyed by the cyclone. The difficultiesrgpto school nearly led her to drop out, but the CRED
Association stepped in with exercise books, pens,soab, helping her stay in school. She now sdfygpt
are educated, you can make better decisions, and nobadymake a decision for ydu

We are grateful to many long standing partners and sufger including the Clara Lionel Foundation, T

ELMA Relief Foundation and the Skoll Foundation, wiégpsd up alongside our young women leaders

provide funding for additional cyclone rédliefforts in support of CAMFED scholars, their fegiland their

schools.

Together, we supported vulnerable people identifiday schools and Community Development Committe
by providing:

in Zimbabwe (555} families in Zimbabwe (317 in the CAMFED Associati( in Zimbabwe (9) and Mala
and Malawi (160)] and Malawi (236) with in Zimbabwe (124) and | (8) with support to rebuild
with items relief packages of Malawi (112) whose cropg infrastructure, including
necessary to necessities like hygiene or stock has been toilets, where government
return to school || products, or items needec destroyed with business| and aid agency funding wa
to rebuild homes restoration grants insufficient




In 2019, CAMFED also commenced a new partnership with7&kindation to deliver an innovative
programme designed to mitigate the impacts of climatergd@on our vulnerable communities. The
programme is supporting CAMFED Assammathembers to pioneer ways to combat the effects ahelte
change on children’s health, welfare and education. uigue network is applying a combination of direct
support to the most vulnerable, and strategies to redwulnerability in the long term, for example throug
school feeding programmes, nutrition education, andriiiag in climatesmart agricultural techniques and
methods. The initiative aims to directly support mahan 20,000 children to attend and stay in school ang
benefit over 50,000 paple with information that helps boost food securitys initial focus is on Zimbabwe,
where political and economic instability is exacerbgtihe impacts of an increasingly unreliable growing
season. Within three years we expect to be in a pmsitd scale the programme to other rural communities
across the continent.

Girls’ education is the starting point for securing tights of women and girls globally, while improving
community health and resilience to climate shocksldb leads to a drastic decrease in emissions. In @1
celebrated the diverse and concrete ways that girlsieation and women'’s leadership impacts on a
community’s ability to face the impact ofiate change.Not only can educated girls choose to have smal
healthier, and more financially secure families, redggoressure on resources and emissions, we are als
showing that gender equality and women’s leadershagulléo increased agriculturalutput, and increased
resilience to climate disasters.

“My favourite was The CAMFED Garden, designedagyeliRickards. It came about after a research visit
Zimbabwe, and is the result of a subsequasitaboration between the designer and the inspiragibiocal

women she met on her trip. The colours are sensuoag;dmposition beautifully balanced. At the back, il
classroom, is a painting by a-yar-old girl of a rural farmyard. It is exceptiofialWill Gompertz, BBC Arts
Editor

CAMFED’s 25th anniversary year brought with it the uimgedf the CAMFED Garden “Giving Girls in Afric
Space to Grow” at the worltenowned RHS Chelsea Flower Show. Featuring vibrimmscéood crops and a
authentic classroom setting, it drove home the messagtefimportance of girls’ education for our
collective future. The Garden made headlines during its debut at the Rie&&hFlower Show in May 201
where it won both a Gold Medal and the coveted PlegpChoice Award. It continues to draw admiration
the Eden Project—which partnered with CAMFED to supply thousands oftpléor the Garden, and which
has housed the Garden since October 2019, continuirgise awareness.

The CAMFED Garden was tigion of designer Jilayne Rickards and Professordiieavatts, her close
friend since their school days, and Chief Scientifleiser to the UK Department for International
Development (DFID), who introduced Jilayne to CAMBHayne was inspired by their joint trip to Zimbab
where she met CAMFED Association member Beauty GomivAnsshares climatesmart techniques and
grows biofortified crops to benefit her rural commuoniJilayne worked tirelessly in a pro bono capacity fa
over 18 months to relisse the ambitious scheme, together with an all-womearteof volunteer gardeners.

During the week of the Chelsea Flower Show, Clarata@ia, CAMFED Association Zimbabwe National G
and climatesmart agriculture specialist, and Sinikiwe Makove, CANHiEDabwe Head of Programmes,
joined the team to raise awareness of CAMFED’s #Seefbaamtpaign. Clarah and Sinikiwe spoke to
thousands of visitors from around the globe about oum &b grow thousands of womeled, sustainable
agriculture businesses, impring health, wealth and school attendance in rural comities.




“CAMFED makes a differenc| “It's very inspiring when you com
and we really need to be to realise that our story as [the
getting to support all of this.;J CAMFED Association] is now goi
For me this has been a real || to that broader level of being
passion project and | think it’§ understood, as we take up
really shown through in the || climate-smart techniques which
garden” - Jilayne Rickards [| are displayed in th CAMFED
MSGD, MBALI, garden Garden. Our story does not end
designer here, but continues growing as w
transform our own communitie’s.
- Clarah Zinyama, CAMFED
AssociatiorNational Chair,
Zimbabwe

“We share with CAMFED a commitment to sustainable agrreult
and education, and were very happy to partner witarthon this
inspiring garden. We were delighted to rebuilchibur
Mediterranean Biome at the Eden Project, wheremigh loved
and has become aat attraction for our visitors.* Paul Stone,
Head of Horticulture, Eden Project

“This is a recognition of the unsung
heroes, young women CAMFED
Association members, wlawe working
so hard to support more children to go
to school, to support their own familieg
reinvesting back in their communities
the benefits of their education. An
unstoppable forcé!- Sinikiwe Makove,
Head of Programmes, CAMFED
Zimbabwe

“| see that if we as women are
educated, even in skills, not just
academically, the result will be
something big' - Beauty Gombana,
CAMFED Association Leader who
inspired the Garden




“These award-winning projects shine a light on outsiag@xamples of scalable, innovative and practicé
climate action from around the world. Each of thesaiguts servas beacons, guiding us towards a bette
future. The recipients of the UN Global Climate Achomards are leaders from communities, governmen
businesses and organisations, and they are froroastiers of the globe and all levels of society. Thete
behind these projects are stepping up to meet the gllabimate challenge by delivering on the Paris
Agreement’ - Patricia Espinosa, Executive Secretary of United iNa@imate Change

Following the announcement that CAMFED had been recagymigl the United Nations (UN) Global Clim
Action Award in September 2019, CAMFED representatrewelled to Madrid, Spain, to participate in the
UN Climate Change Conference (COP 25) in DecemibéFEEDAwas one of four awardees in the ‘Women
Results’ categy, for young women’s grassroots action on climate d&im rural sukSaharan Africa. Esnat
Divasoni, a CAMFED Association leader, and Catherine, BE&&MFED Director of Enterprise Developmen
were delighted to accept the award.

The award recogniselé fact that, since 2014, young women have encouragele &doption of practical
and affordable techniques for climatmart agriculture, helping to build communities' resilce in the face @
climate change. Trained as Agriculture Guides, thesagavonen have improved the productivity,
sustainability and profitability of their own smallholdsgnd reached more than 8,500 individuals, mostly.
women and other young people, through demo farms, camity workshops and mentoring. The model h
been deliveredsuccessfully in Zimbabwe, Zambia and Tanzania.

This initiative, which was launched through CAMFBBrshership with the Mastercard Foundation and
EARTH University, with funding from the UK Departmentriternational Development (DFID) and others
vital to the development of CAMFED’s programmes tocadel girls and support young women'’s transition
secure livelihoods.

“It is very important to share what I've “Today, we are feeling on top of the world as prouembers

learned with other women, so they can groy of the CAMFED Association, CAMA. Winning this awiiird

their own crops, to have food security and ¢ raise our ambitions even higher as we support mats tp

have their own money so they can send the go to school, thrive and lead change. We got thid eka

children to schodl - approval just as some of my sisters and | gradu#ieah

Association Agriculture Guide, Zimbabwe | EARTH University withgeort from the Mastercard
Foundation and CAMFED. We stand ready to return to ou
communities to take bold action against climate change a
girls’ exclusion from education: NCAMFED
AssociatiorLeader and Agriculture Guide, Zimbabwe,
accepting the award at COP25 in Madrid




EXTEND OUR INFLUENCE AND IMPACT

National Partnerships and Advocacy




“Learner Guides come from the same communities wheresiieye, and they understand the needs of girlg
as well as the local languages, customs, and poweamhjcs. This allows them to create solutions to probl¢
they undestand” - Barbara Chilangwa, CAMFED Executive Adviser and fBamaanent Secretary at the
Ministry of Education in Zambia, and Patrick HannahaniokiglLearning Project Director at Brookings

The Tanzania Retiine Scaling Lab was launched in June 2019 in partipevgth the Center for Universal
Education at the Brookings Institution, and in collabamatwith the Ministry of Education, Science, and
Technology, as well as other key youth, welfare, athacation stakeholders. The scaling lab learns from a
supports the expansion of our Learner Guide Prograrmagress five new regions of Tanzania, with the long
term goal of national integration.

In November 2019, former CAMFED Association Leaunde§(and core trainers) Stumai Kaguna and Dir
Martin joined CAMFED Tanzania's National Director, Lydzakljito meet with 31 members of the
Tanzanian Parliamentary Standing Committee for SocialVéedihd Community Development in Tanzania
The focus on improving educational outcomes among maigied children while at the same time opening
new pathways for young women in the transition froningol to independent livelihoods speak to the
priorities of many national governments . The parliameiatas highlighted the holistic nature of the Learne
GuideProgramme, and praised the link it creates betwedrosts and communities, thereby enhancing
parental responsibility. The committee also discustbexiprogramme's potential to addresmany issues
children face, including HIV/AIDS, teen pregnancy,raiition. Members recognised the power of
supporting young people with loans and in businesswes while they are active volunteers, working to
improve their communities. The vice chairpersonle tommittee, the Hon. Juma Nkamia, statetlye‘want
to be active stakeholders [in the scaling procéssh addition to Parliament, the scaling lab has made
progress in engaging with hidével government officials to consider how the gaveent might adapt and
scale elements of theearner Guide Programme. Lessons learned from thengdab will help reach more
communities in Tanzania and inform future efforts to adapd scale the Learner Guide Programme in oth
countries.




Global Activism and Influence

Barbara
Chilangwa,

Spiwe Chakawel




Cambridge @bal Conversations




“This is an emergency. We “We are part of a model which is | “Unlike some of the movements
cannot stand by while anotherf| unique. It puts power where it across this world that are divisiv
generation of girls is excluded|| belongs: in our hands! The hands ¢ and polarising, this is a revolutio
from school. The world cannot| young women who have lived of potential, not destruction; of
afford to wait for the returns oft| poverty, exclusion, and the threat ¢ love and compassion, not
girls’ education to be realised if child marriage. With the right violence; of showing a better wa
we are serious about tackling | support, we've risen above these | forward, not repeating the histor
the biggest issues of our time, || challenges. Now we are breaking | we have lived. This is a rare
including climate change. All of the cycle of poverty and unleashin¢ moment. This is not an African
us in this room have the power the next genertion’s power by moment, but a world moment.
to respond to that emergency. | showing each girl that there is This is our moment to unite, to
And tonight, we show you hoW| nothing outside herself or her pull together and make an
- Lucy Lake, CAMFED Chief [ community needed to succeed. Th| outsized impact on the futurée-
Executive Officer is a route to empowered families, | Angeline Murimirwa, CAMFED
villages, countries. This is a chanc( Executive Director Africa
to put the earth on a new path of
stability instead of decliné-
Rosédinda Agana, CAMFED
Association Leader, Ghana

On the night of our 25th anniversary “Education Charigesrything” Gala in New York City on the 9th of
May, 550 guests joined us not only to celebrate thbi@gements over the last 25 years, but the possibili
presented by the leadership of educatédrican women, now part of a movement set to transfofmica.

CAMFED honoured multiple awandnning singer-songwriter, social activist and philaofgist Annie
Lennox, and speeches from CAMFED Patron Julia GikdvtEED Chief Executive Officer Lualyel-
CAMFED Association leaders and other distinguished spgegélyanized guests into taking urgent action

The Gala came to life through the inspirational leadershfi@AMFED USA Board Member Belinda Badc
The event, cachaired by Carlos Brito, CEO of Anheuser-Busclv,laiBd Seth Zachary, Chairman of Paul
Hastings LLP, brought together CAMFED Associatiornréetidm all five partner countries with business
leaders, philanthropists, and celebrities; all champioh€ AMFED’s work.

Journalist LdrStokes hosted the Gala, leading guests through thgnramme. Musician/activist Drea
Pizziconi performed the world premiere of her nelotgal women’s empowerment anthem, “Let Us Dan¢
featuring Maimouna Youssef and the Didjmgs Horns. Supporters steggbup like never before to make th
event truly memorable, raising over $2.2 million.

“CAMFED does more than change the lives of indivithiel QAMFED is creating a movement of future
leaders who | believe will transform the continenéfifica. It isvonderful to watch their progress, to see
how much power they have and to know that they wileash it in the development of their local
communities, their nations, and the continent overadm sure that in years to come, | will be able totsa
peode ‘I knew her back when’ as one of the CAMFED alermmerges as a president, a prime minister, @
business leader who is changing everything in Afia.will be able to say we knew them because CA
and the CAMFED Association enabled a profound ehamtieir lives. What an amazing orgaati®n to be
involved with” - The Hon Julia Gillard AO, 27th Prime Ministerustralia and Patron of CAMFED




After the rousing success of the panel of influenti@imen brought together by The Queen’s Commonwea
Trust (QCT) and CAMFED on International Women’s Dagdoh.e- as The Duchess of Sussex took on thg
role of Vice President of the QE¥CAMFED Association leaders were thrilled to hostiaion with The
Duke and Duchess of Sussex in Malawi.

“Angie, when you and | first met, it was almost a yeat a half ago, | was so struck by everything that go
with CAMA (the CAMFED Association), and obviouslyrpact that it has on so many young women and|(
in ensuring they have the education that they so righttserve. And that's why we were able to be togethg
at International Women'’s Day to talk further aboutwy personal story, but also all theseredible stories...
We're just so proud as President and Mecesident of The Queen’s Commonwealth Trust thatamesupport
you in everything that you are doing, because we oabegin to express how valuable and vital that ki
We're just incredily proud to be a part of it. The Duchess of Sussex

Nearly 50 young women leaders met The Duke of Sygs@erson) and The Duchess of Sussex (via videgd
at a special event in Lilongwe on the 29th of Septemihe couple attended in their roles as President an
Vice President of The Queen’s Commonwealth TrustSHueetary of Education, Science and Technology
Hon. Justin Adack Saidi, addressed the audiencegdinglocal and global journalists, to underscore the
Ministry’s commitment to gality education. Angie Murimirwa, CAMFED Executirecr - Africa, and
founding member of the CAMFED Association led a gfarel session. She was joined by Nicola Brentnal
CEO of The Queen’s Commonwealth Trust, and David Bead, of the UK Dep@anent for International
Development (DFID) in Malawi. Both orgations are investing in girls’ education through CAMFED,
supporting the expertise and leadership of thousanfi€AMA leaders like panelists Luwiza, Fatima and R
ensuring that they camiturn reach tens of thousands of vulnerable childiemheir communities.

CAMFED Association member National Chair Luwiza PHig spout the growth of the Association, its
governance, and how these young leaders are paying fahthar benefits of ther education. “Here in
Malawi, we are the youngest network, formed in 20digh 217 members. Now there are 17,530 of us in
Malawi and in April this year we launched the CAMAdE:- with support from The Queen’s Commonwealth
Trust, which helps us to scalp and coordinate our philanthropy, so we can reacgtnawore of the most
vulnerable children in our communities with vital suppo go to school. Since 2017, across the 4 countrie
where QCT funding is activ&hana, Tanzania, Zambia and Malawi - we have dyreaached 30,691
children. And here in Malawi, we reached 3,109 ofthin just 3 montH%

Rose Alexander, a Core Trainer of CAMFED Associatioret &uides and advocate against child marriage
explained how young women rally communities in fight against early marriage, working to annul
marriages and return children to school. She sdigyémised in my heart that | would always advocate fo
the rights of children in MalawiFatima Frank, a Core Trainer now studying to becomeaeher, decribed
how important educated young women are as role modeld arentors to vulnerable children, supporting
their learning, and delivering life skills, enablimgdren to thrive in school and after graduation.

The Duke of Sussex accepted a copy of GANEMY Better Worldife skills workbook, newly adapted for
primary school students in Malawi, as a present fomhife and his son Archie in future years.

"I'm also delighted to hear the news of some of the peeg since we last met, and how you axking in
Malawi’'s public education system and to support so nmginyg to stay in school as it is so importdot them
to learn and fulfil their full potential...It's wondel to hear the news of the CAMA fund and how the
leadership of CAMA members is making a significaferdiiice."- The Duke of Sussex
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SOME OF OUR INCREDIBLE SUPPORTERS

All over the world, people passionate about girls’ eatian and women'’s leadership organised innovative
fundraising challenges, including climbing mountamentoring medical students, and performing live music
to raise money and spread the worlilVe can’t thank every single one of you in this repbrit know that we
haven’t forgotten your kindnessHere are some of 2019 highlights for you to enjoy:

Team Kili

A group of friends from Farnham in Surrey - Kate, Judeise, Claire, Geri, and Rexyndertook the climb of

a lifetime in August 2019 by scaling Mount Kilimanjar@anzania. They were keen to support a charity which
empowered women, particularly in Tanzania, so saw CAMEBEE perfect fit. It was an amazing

adventure, incredible but tough at the ehdaid Louise. ‘Team Kili’ raised over £10,000!

Brynn'sEducate Girls Everywhei@ampaign

Brynn, from lllinois, USA, visited Belize when she W2 years old, where she met many girls her age who
did not have access to education. This experiencdreder to establish a student-run platforreducate
Girls Everywhereas her Bat Mitzvah project. Brynn came across CAMFE®researching girls’ education
non-profits and immediately felt a connection to amission. Through her month-long campaign selling
clothing andstickers, she raised an incredible $4,000 to benefMEED Zambia. Brynn saitWy* favourite
part of the event was seeing people | didn't knowl @et passionate about the issue and want to hielp

Cambridge Assessment

CAMFED was chosen as Cambridges&ssent’s International Charity of the Year 2019. Stéffifiepired to
support our agricultural entrepreneurs and the trainiojnew Agriculture Guides to support others to labn
and grow climate-smart agricultural businesses acrossSalaran Africa. Cambridge Assessment teams
proved wonderfully resourceful, running a serieewénts as part of their fundraising efforts for CAMFED
including a cricket match, raffle, bake sales, Christirgs and University Challenge competition.

I

Just months after opening her bridal shop in Surkégnnah knew she wanted to give something back. As a
big believer in the Ulntu mantra “we are who we are, because of who we all ariinnah and her husband
chose to donate £50 from every dress sold to fowarifes - giving their brides the option to chooseth
cause they felt most strongly about. Since July 20lileBy Aster has donated £1,200 to CAMFED and as
Hannah states:We're only a small business. If we can raise a sumoogy like this with such a small
change, it really is inspiring to think what we coaltdo together to help support our planet andpople.”

The Royal College of Surgeon’s mentoring event

The Association of Women Surgeons student chapteneRoyal College of Surgeons in Ireland, Dublin, held
a ‘speed mentoring’ event in October, connecting i with surgeons and healthcare professionals.
Students mingled with mentors over refreshmentsri@ng about life in the surgical profession. The event
raised 180 euros for CAMFED, kicking off the chapyeds of events for students.

C.Williams Garden Party

Carol from the UK held a garden party for CAMFEDgte®der 2019. She was inspired to fundraise after
spending timen Zambia, where she met a CAMFED Zambia staff membdoand that CAMFED’s mission
‘really struck a chord’. Fortgight of her friends came to share tea and cakeegtigb live music, and take part
in activities from drawing sessions and a tree trailtioraffles and a coconut shy, raising £265.

Lilla and Olivia Wren
The Krulish sisters, Lilia and Olivia Wren form thiéedrStates set up their THRIVE campaign to respond to
the need for girls in Africa to have the opportunityattend school, learn and thrive into adulthood. They



fundraised by selling baked goods and snacks at theirdschool COO. Doubling their initial goal of raising
$240.00, the sisters raised enough to send two girlschool for a whole year. They said, "Together weeh
always had a heart for giving. We hope to accomplish mu¢ch @AMFED.”

Please keep following @ CAMFED across social mediatelhgour friends, families and colleagues about
the most impactful way they can help others: by gporting girls to learn, thrive and lead
change. Together we can!



LOOKING AHEAD TO 2020

Angeline
Murimirwa




Fanny, CAMFED Scholar, Malawi

“I'm the leader! I've got the potential! If I'm not goit@change the world, the world is going to be the sam
The world is waiting for me to changg'it!

Fanny’s childhood was cut short by poverty. At the afj20, after her mother became ill,fll to Fanny to
support her family.

She had always loved school and was determined to neimatducation. Despite having to find work, look
after the household, and take care of her siblings,fyastayed at the top of her class. However, there was
little hope of Fanny continuing to high school, as Bad no way of raising the necessary money.

Now that Fanny has received a scholarship from CAMREIDding the financial and emotional support she
needs, she’s ready to shake up the world.



GOVERNANCE AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT

Board of Trustees

CAMFED International is a company limited by guarantaapany registration number 02874653 and
registered with the Charity Commission of England amdied/ Charity Registration Number 1029161. Itis
governed by its Memorandum & Articles of Associatibime Board of Trustees comprises seven people who
together are responsible for the supervision of thanagement of all the affairs of CAMFED
International. The Board is committed to maintainingighhstandard of corporate governance. Board
meetings are held four times a year. Trustees, alllodnv are non-executive, are drawn from diverse
backgrounds and bring a broad range of relevant experiemckskills. They are elected to the Board by
existing Trustees. An induction for new Trusteesc®all aspects of the role, the objectives of theritlya
and the responsibilities of Trustees. No other organgsatr body has the right to appoint Trustees of the
charity.

Directors’ and Trustees’ Responsibilities

The Trustees (who are also directors of CAMFED Ektiemal for the purposes of company law) are
responsible for preparing the Trustees’ Annual Repod the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and United Kingdom Generally Acceptedutiow Practice (United Kingdom Accounting
Standards).

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare finantééments for each financial year. Under company
law the Trustees must not approve the financial statetsamless they are satisfied that they give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable compamd of the incoming resources and application of
resources, including the income and expenditurethef charitable company for that period. In preparing
these financial statements, the Trustees are requir@d t

select suitable accounting policies and then apply tremsistently;
observe the methods and principles in the CharitieRBO
make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and pruyden

state whether applicable UK accounting standards have lelfowed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financialestants; and

prepare the financial statements on the going conceasib unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the charitable company will continue in business.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate adtoayrecords that are sufficient to show and explain
the charitable company’s transactions, disclose with reakte accuracy at any time the fineéal position of

the charitable company and enable them to ensure thatfihancial statements comply with the Companies
Act 2006 and the provisions of the charity’s constantiThey are also responsible for safeguarding the asset
of the charity and hence for taking reasonable stepgtie prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

Disclosure of Information to Auditors

Insofar as each of the trustees of the charity at tfate of approval of this report is aware there is naekeint
audit information (information needed by the charitydaiditor in connection with preparing the audit report)
of which the charity’s auditor is unaware. Each trustes taken all of the steps that he/she should have taken



as a trustee in order to make himself/herself awareny relevant audit information and to establish that the
charity’s auditor is aware of that information.

There are clear distinctions between the roles of the Blaafr Trustees and Executive Officers of CAMFED to
whom day to day management is delegated. Matters such &sypand strategic plans are prepared by the
Executive for consideration and approval by the Bodittk Board acts on advice and information including
from regular meetings with members of the Execufiaam, in addition to wider input from other sources.

Committees of the Board

There are two committees of the Board, the Financajidand Investment Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. The Finance, Audit and Investment Commitiesists of four Board members. The committee
meets at least four times a year to monitor and revi@vancial statements, the internal control environment,
risk, internal and external audit activities, investmenfisancial management and budgetary control. The
Remuneration Committee consists of three members, wheet annually to review remuneration and
succession planning, and to set senior management pay.

Risk Management

The Trustees are responsible for the effectivenasd adequacy of risk management and internal control
systems and processes of the Charity to manage the tiswhich the CAMFED is exposed. They dischaige thi
responsibility through a review of the effectiveneskthe Charity’s risk management framework. This is
designed to support informed decisianaking regarding the risks that affect the Charity’s perfance and its
ability to achieve its objectives. Processes in ptagarding risk management and internal control include the
following:

A comprehensive risk management framework which méleésCharity Commission’s requirements is
in place consisting of four stages: (i) understandirgrisk environment through risk identification) (ii
analysis and evaluation of the risk, (iii) a comprehensgslereview by the Trustees twice a year, (iv)
quarterly organisation-wide risk review at district armuaotry levels in every country CAMFED works
and documented in the risk register, (v) continuouairiing of staff and stakeholders on risk
management.

The Finance and Audit Committee reviews and approvesanal risk-based internal audit plan which
covers the major risks identified by management arel Thustees. It also receives regular reports from
the internal audit function on the effectiveness of carly and on progress against both its audit plan
and the recommendations made in its reports.

Twice a year, the Trustees review the risk registenpdate risks and ensure that an effective risk
management process is in place.

A strong whistleblowing policy is in place to enstitat employees are confident that they can raise
any matter with CAMFED that concerns them, safe in theMedge that it will be taken seriously,
treated as confidential and that no action will be taken agathem.

The risk framework is classified into five broad catégs (strategic, financial, operational, external and
governance) that are further defined into specific @otial risk elements. The current risk register idées a
total of forty specific risk elements across all tvefcategories and below is a list of five majdcsithe Trustees
have identified and the mitigating strategies in place:












Public Benefit

CAMFED’s Trustees have a statutory duty to reporthencharity’s public benefit in the Annual Report. The
2014 - 2019 CAMFED Strategic Pidentifies CAMFED’s objectives, and defines key stiegegnd actions
required to ensure that the charity provides public leéih These objectives include the support for gt
enrol in and succeed at school, and to enable young gmoto make the transition to a secure livelihood and
into positions of leadership. These objectives faltler the purposes defined by the Charities Act 20h1.
shaping our aims and objectives for the year and planomgactivities, the Trustees have considered the
Chariy Commission’s guidance on public benefit, includimg guidance ‘public benefit: running a charity
(PB2)'.

Child Protection and Safeguarding

The protection of vulnerable children and young peoisl core to CAMFED’s work. CAMFED International has,
in collaboration with national CAMFED organisations, apezl a comprehensive Child Protection Policy and
Code of Practice that is embedded in all project plagrand at every stage of programme delivery, to ensure
children and vulnerable young adults are protected fréwarm. This sets out in detail how any CAMFED
representative, including staff, board members, vokens, consultants and community partners should
conduct themselves and their interactions with chédr

All CAMFED representatives, including staff, whetiegd or unpaid, and staff of subcontracting partners, are
expected to be aware of and comply with CAMFED’s @hiltéction Policy and Code of Practice, and to canfir
this in writing as a prerequisite to engagement witAMFED. This includes all staff, volunteers, partner
agencies, government authorities, consultants, visitinglfng and research agencies, or any person presenting
themselves to a child, young person, or vulnerablelttecause of their relationship with CAMFED. Any
violation of the policy and code constitutes grosseoinduct, leading to summary dismissal or termination of
contract.

The CAMFED Child Protection Policy is reviewed agnbglithe Executive and ratified by the CAMFED
International Board of Trustees, and is published onwebsite:www.CAMFED.org

CAMFED'’s governance model, as documented by Linklat® in the report “CAMFED Governance, Accounting
to the Girl: Working Towards a Standard for Governancine International Deelopment Sector” requires
absolute duty of care and accountability to girls and ypwomen supported by CAMFED programmes. We
have mainstreamed a culture of accountability to our bfciaries into all aspects of our programming,
supported by former beneficiaries of CAMFED suppatip are employed as staff at every level of the
organisation (including our Executive Director, Ajriaad on our advisory boards, and, through CAMA, form
the majority of the activist base supporting CAMFBIsk in the commuity. This reinforces the culture of
safeguarding in our organisatic@ur programmes are integrated into the education systenthe countries



where we work, meaning that we are able to influence @mvancement of safeguarding standards and
approaches beyond the direct remit of the organisatitie)ping to protect all children and young adults in
schools and communities.

Data Protection

In 2017, CAMFED set up a working team to lead plarfonifpe Regulation on the protection of persons with
regard to the processing of personal data and on the fneovement of such data, and Upon the repeal of
Directive 95/46/EC (General Data Protection Reguiatiath effect from 25 May 2018, CAMFED had achieved
full compliance with the GDPR directive.

Code of Charity Governance

CAMFED has utilised the Code as a tool to support thedBo reflect upon its current governance structures
and consider the ways in which the Charity and its Tessteurrently apply the Charity Governance Code’s
seven principles and recommded practice. The Charity’s Trustees acknowledge thaCtieity is best placed
to fulfil its vision, mission and strategic goals ifidts effective governance in plac&éhe Charity’s Board has
established a solid foundation in governance in whatihof its Trustees are clear about their roles andaleg
responsibilities, are committed to supporting the Charto deliver its objects most effectively for its
beneficiaries’ benefit and contribute to the Charitgentinued improvement. CAMFED’s Trusteleserve high
standards of governance. They have reviewed the reguénts of Code of Charity Governance and confirm
that CAMFED’s governance upholds the good practigaguoe of the Code.

Fundraising

CAMFED International raises funds from the public. Tharity Commission provides charity fundraising
guidance to Trustees (CC20), a helpful referencerigtées to take responsibility for ethical fundraisifige
Trustees demand high standards of transparency and hgriasour fundraising. CAMFED is registered with
the Fundraising Regulator and is a member of the IngiaftFundraising to demonstrate our commitment to
achieving the highest standards. We comply with botnFundraising Regulator's Code of Fundraising Practice,
and the Fundraising Promise, which set the standard&ufadraising activity throughout the UK.

CAMFED’s approach to fundraising is based on thenfioitpprinciples:

Planning - A fully costed detailed fundraising planrésmth up annually and reviewed by the Executive Team
and approved by the Board. The plan includes a timelilediyerables and projections of income and costs
expected from activities, e.g. the New York and Lonhtarathons, galas, and other fundraising events. The
Board reviews the plan to ensure it is consisterth CAMFED's values, ethos and that it financially sound

Accountability - Staff and members of the public whadraise on behalf of CAMFED are required to
understand the organisation’s values and ethos, that CAMBBes not promote aggressive fundragsin
techniques and will not put pressure on membersia# public.

Openness - CAMFED actively promotes transparency anthege in its dealings with the public, the donors
and all interested parties. We believe creating trasmfidence and rapport with the public is the bestlening
fundraising approach.

Respect - We respect the public, their preferencesaisthes and follow their choices in engaging with them.
Our supporters’ unique preferences are always obsgrve

Diversity - CAMFED embraces diversife. are a fully inclusive organisation and value evesi®nontribution
towards sending girls to school, irrespective of coJ@reed, religion, gender, political affiliation loication.

Complaints - CAMFED has not received a complaint afisimgits fundraising practices during the year (2018:
none). We do not engage agencies in our fundraisotiyities.



Protection of vulnerable people and members of thebjiei— CAMFED’s safeguarding policy applies to both
beneficiaries of the programme and other vulnerabéople including the public in general. The policfirtks
CAMFED’s values and expectations from staff and everyar&ing for or representing CAMFED. Also,
CAMFED’s membership of the Institute of Fundraisingragstration with the FundraisignRegulator requires
compliance with good practice in fundraising inclgdprotection of vulnerable members of the public.

The Board of Trustees has reviewed the requirementshafrity fundraising to Trustees (CC20) and confirms
full compliance.

Environmental Policy

CAMFED International recognises the potential impactsofvork and operations to the environment and
climate change and is committed to limiting its carbord @amvironmental footprints, including reducing the
need for international travel, promoting the avoidanciepointing documents whenever possible (and as a cost
cutting measure too), waste management including reogcind encouraging environmental friendly policies
in all areas of our work.

Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy

CAMFED operates a zero-tolerance attitude to fraud, Ioyikend corruption, and is committed to their
prevention and the promotion of an anti-fraud, anti-brityeand anti-corruption culture. Staff and all
stakeholders are required to act honestly and with gnigy at all times and to safeguard the resources for
which they are responsible. The policy is establigoddcilitate the development and maintenance of a cratu
and controls which will aid the prevention and detectiof fraud, bribery and/or corruption. CAMFED is
committed to investigating all cases of suspected fraurthery and corruption and its policy sets out CAMBEED
process and procedures in cases where fraud and copraattices are discovered or suspected. The detailed
policy is part of BMFED’s Operations Manual.

Equal Opportunities

CAMFED is a charitable organisation committed to tlmmation of equal educational opportunity. It takes
affirmative action to make educational opportunity a reglior girls in Africa, where this accords with natibn
goals. In carrying out this objective it treats indiats with respect, within the field and the organisatiamd
creates a broad base for consultation and decision-makingrever possible and appropriate. To accomplish
these overall objectives, as expressed in the Memoramaind Articles of Association, CAMFED wiill:

Comply with both the letter and spirit of all applicaltdevs and regulations governing employment in
the UK and host country which include the Equality20&0 as amended from time to time;

Provide equal opportunity to all employees and to all laggmts for employment;

In employment, prohibit unlawful discrimination or lz@sment because of race, colour, nationality,
religion or religious beliefs, ethnic or nationalgin, age, gender, marital status, civil partnership or
gender reassignment, sexual orientation, or disahility

Advise all employees or respective employees of EDE-Equal Opportunities Policy;

Pay particular attention to recruitment procedures, paetionary periods, terms and conditions of

employment, dismissal, leave, promotion, and deployteatterns;

Develop mechanisms for resolving grievances about udfscrimination and harassment;

Review both the letter and application of its Equal Opypoities Policy on a regular basis.

Liability of Members

CAMFED International is a registered Company, limitedjuarantee. Members of the Company have
guaranteed the liabilities of the Company up to £1 each



The CAMFED Global Coalition

CAMFED operates as a global coalition of equal partrfenshich CAMFED International is the coordinating
hub, overseen by the CAMFED International Board oftées. CAMFED is registered as a national non-profit
organisation in each country of operation with the osight of a national Board of Trustees. A representative
from CAMFED International sits on each national Boardrder to reinforce coordination and governance
between structures. The relationship between CAMH&®Brnational and each CAMFED national office is
underpinned by a Master Cooperative Agreement enteretileen the parties. The Agreement is intended to
reinforce the principles that underpin the governancECAMFED as an international coalition of separate
entities with a shared vision and mission and setsinuine comprehensive agreement:

the nature of the relationship between CAMFED Inteimadi and each national office and the
structure of the CAMFED Coalition; and

the terms of co-operation between CAMFED Internatiomadl each national office regarding the
implementation of Development Projects and expenditof Donor Funds.

codify the key funding, governance, compliance andtmdnarrangements between CAMFED
International and each national office in relation to Dmment Projects and the expenditure of
Donor Funds.

Below are the global CAMFED coalition legal entities:

CAMFED InternationglCompany limited by guarantee incorporated under thgiRear of Companies
for England and Wales Company No0.02874653. RegisteredhetlCharity Commission for England
and Wales Charity N0.1029161)

CAMFED Ghanéincorporated under the Companies Code, 1963, Ghagetered Charity number
3921)

CAMFED Tanzaniincorporated under the Companies Act 2002, Tanzaniatexgd Charity number
1730)

CAMFED Malawiincorporated under the Trustees Incorporation Act, &l registered Charity
number NGO/R/12/01)

CAMFED Zambiéincorporated as a company limited by guarantee under @mnpanies Act 1994,
Zambia registered Charity number RNGO 101/0019/13)

CAMFED Zimbabw@rust) (incorporated under the Companies Act, regi®n number 1157/82 and
Private Voluntary Organisation Act Chapter 17:05)

CAMFED USA Foundatian USA 501 (c)(3) EIN-52033897 not for profit organization (incorporated
under the General Corporation Law of the State of Dalay

CAMFED Canadacorporated under Canada Not-for-profit Corporatigxet (NFP Act) Corporation No.
452846-8. Business No. 844988659RR0001

CAMFED International NPC South Afrigacompany registered with South Africa Companies and
Intellectual Property Commission (CIPA), registratiomber 2016/32240/08

CAMFED Australi@gCampaign for Female Education Australia Ltd), a non-mofitpany limited by
guarantee registered in New South Wales with companylmemCAN 631991770).



FINANCIAL REVIEW

Summary Financial Performance

CAMFED’s annual income for 2019 increased signifjcgadron-year by 21% to a new peak of £38.6m. This
increase was mainly due to new grant funding securedhfiTrusts and Foundations, the creation of a new
endowment fund, and the success of theZniversary Gala held in New York. There was sormadaeting
between income streams during the year, with incomanirTrusts and Foundations representing the largest
stream (47%) compared to 33% in 2018; income fromtutry (Institutional) sources was 38% of total income
(2018: 53%). Overall net results show a £6.5m sarf#018: £200k deficit), split as follows: £0.9mastricted,
£4.2m restricted and £1.4m endowment funds. The utrieied surplus was primarily attributable to the 25
Anniversary Gala, as mentioned above. The restrictedlssiarose where grants were received in 2019 and
income recognised as per the policy in the notethaccounts, but most of the related expenditure vidlke
place in 2020. The creation of a new £1.4m endowmeantfduring the year led to the surplus shown on the
statement of financial activities. Total funds carriedifard at year-end were £15.4m (2018: £8.9m) of which
unrestricted funds were £7.8m, restricted funds wé&2m and endowment funds were £1.4m (2018: £6.9m,
£2m and nil respectively). Year-end cash and short-@eposits increased to £24.9m, up from £15.8m at the
end of 2018. The financial results for the year areadtin the consolidated statement of financial actiedi

on page 63.

Income

Total income for the year increased 21% to £38.6anil{2018: £32 million). The main sources of incoasein
previous years, was driven by Statutory (Institutionallrses and Trusts and Foundations with a combined
total of £32.9 million (2018: £27.4 million), repedding 85% of total income for the year (2018: 86%). A
detailed analysis of income is shown in the consolid&@ttement of Financial Activities (SOFA) and Note 5 to
the accounts.

Expenditure

In late 2014, CAMFED set an ambitious goal of supjgootie million adolescent girls through secondary sthoo
and into secure livelihoods within just five years.the end of 2018, the cumulative reach achieved was
959,259 (96%), and by the end of 2019 the goal wasfisiginily surpassed, with total cumulative reach of
1,205,336 (120%). The Statement of Financial ActiiB&FA) on page 63 includes expenditure for the year
directly linked to this achievement. Total charitabpesding decreased by 2% to £30.2 million (2018: £30.
million), of which £14.6 million was dedicated to there strategy of sending girls to school (20187.61
million), representing 48% of total charitable spe2®18: 55%). Investment in young women'’s leadership
increased 12% to £11 million (2018: £9.9 millioepresenting 37% of total charitable spend (2018: 31%).
Expenditure on fundraising of £1.9 million was 6%taifl expenditure. Further analysis of charitable
expenditure and fundraising costs is shown in notes@ 7 respectively of the financial statements.

Significant movements year on year

Support costgexcluding foreign exchange movements) were £3.lianifor the year (2018: £2.6 million).
The increase in support costs is due to the depremmadif the pound as a reporting currency for the ficai
statements, where all overseas’ operating costs are mecicies either in US dollar or currencies linked to
the US dollar, as well as payroll costs for filled vaoales.

Staff costsTotal number of employees increased from 274 in 2@1882 in 2019. Overall head count
increased due to investment in fundraising and recra@titnunder the Young Africa Works project in Ghana.
Total employment costs for the year increased to £7(201.8: £6.7m)Depreciation of sterling against the
US dollar contributed to the marginal year on year iasein staff costs.



Tangible fixed assets Year on year net increase in fixed assets was mainlyalpeocurement of
programme vehicles in Tanzania and Zambia. Further anafysiagible fixed assets is shown in note 14.

Debtors’ balance was £3.9 million (2018: £2.4 million). Thedase was mainly due to payments receivable
from DFID which were received in February 2019.

Creditors’balance was £12.5 million (2018: £6.9 million). @f£42.5 million, £11.8 million represented
deferred income (2018: £6.4 million). £6.3 millideferred in 2018 was released as income in 2019 heuart
analysis of creditors is shown in note 18.

Long-term liabilitiesof £2.7 million are shown in note 19. This represdnoteds received from DFID in 2017 at
the start of the GEC Transitions projects as a matliiis payment for CAMFED International to manage the
cashflow requirements of the project. These are duerépayment in 2021 and 2022.

Financial instrumentzomprise of financial assets (cash at bank and in hande taad other debtors held at
amortised value) and financial liabilities (all creditoxsept social security, other taxes and deferred inchme
held at amortised cost. Financial assets increase®by ® £28.5 million (2018: £17.9 million). This &@nty
due to the increase of £10.8m in short-term depositffset by £1.7 million reduction in cash at bank and in
hand. Financial liabilities increased by 40% to £0.34omi(2018: £0.39 million), primarily due to a 74%
increase in trade creditors to £0.21 million (2018:#million). Further analysis of financial instrumeists
shown in note 20.

Lease commitmentsvorth £471k were held at the end of the year (20189%Kk). This is primarily the UK
office lease, which was renewed in 2018 for a fiveryeaiod (£458Kk). Leases for office equipment, inzigd
printers, was £13k at the end of 2018. Further analpdilease commitments is shown in note 20.

Subsidiary undertakings CAMFED International subsidiaries held net funds & &8llion (2018: £3.2
million), a reduction of 10%. Cash balances were imelde UK in an interest-bearing US dollar account, as
well as project specific balances held in Canada and&han

Financial Position

Funds
At 31st December 2019, CAMFED held £15.4 millicumich balances (2018: £8.9 million) split as follows:

Restricted funds of £6.2 million (2018: £2 millioRestricted funds are resources that are available for
on-going operations, but that are restricted to specificrposes by donors, or by the granting or
contracting agencies.
Unrestricted funds of £7.8 million (2018: £6.9 ioil). These are split as follows:
o £1 million (2018: £1 million) representing designafadds set aside by the Board of Trustees
as a provision for the risk of currency fluctuatiehsee Note 22.
o £6.8 million (2018: £5.9m) representing general furids available funds to be spent at the
Trustees' discretion in furtherance of CAMFEiiaritable objectives.
Endowment funds of £1.4 million (2018: nil). Endoswinfunds are either expendable or permanent
and are invested to make consistent income and/or inca@me capital withdrawals for specific needs
or to further CAMFED'’s operationdl..8 million was held in expendable endowments at the ef the
year

Cash

At 3% December 2018, CAMFED held £24.9 million in castslaod term deposits, up from £15.8 million at
the end of 2018. The increase was mainly due to fuedsived in advance from some donors (see Note 17
under deferred income). Short term deposits of £L.nillion (2017: £0.4 million) primarily consistteb one-
year fixed term deposits of $5m and $3m maturing in Baby and September 2020 respectively.



Going Concern

CAMFED International’s Board of Trustees have revidgivedey risks and uncertainties emerging as a result
of the COVIDL.9 crisis in the context of CAMFED’s operations awl these affectooth immediate liquidity
and longer term solvency.

The charity is funded through income from donations &ghcies, and income from charitable activities. These
grants and donations come from a variety of sourcesluifing statutory bodies, trusts and foundations,
corporates and individuals. The charity receives thpeenary classes as required in trust law: unrestricted
funds, restricted funds and endowment funds. In 20a8restricted funds were 15% of total income (£5.7m),
with restricted funds 82% (£31.4m) and endowmentdam% (£1.4m).

The trustees prepare annual budgets and forecastsrdteoto ensure there is adequate funding in place to
deliver charitable activities for the coming year. In itidd, the Board in formulating its plan and strategy for

the future operations of the organisation has consideeederiod beyond that for which formal budgets and

forecasts are prepared. Minimum unrestricted castelewof £2.5m and reserves of £6m are incorporated into
all projections reviewed by the trustees, whose apias required before these levels can be breached.

Ongoing liquidity of the charity is dependent on termain areas- maintaining levels of unrestricted funding
sufficient to cover the gap between total operatingsts and restricted funding for staff and overheads;
secondly, timely and full receipt of funds from néstted sources where these are received in arreansgty,
the ability to recover operating costs from restridteontracts, whether or not related programme activities
can take place.

If unrestricted income significantly decreases, liguederves start to fall, and over the short to mediunmte
lead to considerable erosion of the £7.8m reservell fzes at 31st December 2019. Similarly, if income from
restricted sources is delayed, or contracts cancelledexample where economic uncertainties impede the
grantees ability to fulfil their contractual obligationggegsure would be placed on the organisations’ liquidity
and ability to meet its financial obligations.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant, immediggect on the chety’s operations, and, at the present
time, it is not clear how long the current circumstas are likely to last and what the long-term impadt e.

At the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, schools andatgrinstitutions were closed in all 5 African courgrie

CAMFED operates in, removing the ability to providarftial support to keep students in education through
payment of fees and/or entitlements and through the psgsocial support of community volunteers such as
Teacher Mentors and Learner Guides; at the time otingj these institutions are gradually reopening.
Restrictions on group gatherings and other social distajmnmeasures have also reduced the ability to delive
training to young women to build their leadership skifind improve their ability to secure livelihoods for
themselves, their families and the wider community.

Charitable expenditure has immediately reduced due ® tbnstraints of the operating environment caused
by COVID-19; this also has a corresponding effecharitable income, where income from restricted sowsce
is dependent on delivering a programme of activitieattcannot, at present, be completed. Some significant
funders have agreed that CAMFED can continue to chargeastdfoverhead costs during the current period,
even where there is reduced charitable expenditurec@dly, due to economic uncertainties caused by the
COVID-19 crisis, there has been an immediate decrehapmoximately 50% year-on-year in the level of
unrestricted donations from the public and major doadn the months following the outset of the crigisthe

UK and US. The approved operational budget for 202uded a conservative assumption that £3m
unrestricted income would be received from indivadigiving and major donors during the year, based on
recent income trends and fundraising plans; if theerctrend in the reduction of unrestricted income ree

to continue, a drawdown on reserves will be requitedneet ongoing operating costs.



In light of the impact that COVID-19 may have on tharity, the trustees have carried out further financial
modelling based on a range of 4 scenarios, best cga@mnistic, middle-ground and worst case, which are
extrapolated through to 31st December 2021, 18 moritleyond the date of the signing of the 2019 financial
statements. These projections consider the possitmpact of the COVID-19 crisis on organisational financial
health through analysis of levels of cash, reservesnre and expenditure over this period.

The modelling tests the impaof the following areas which are particularly importantrhaintain CAMFED’s
financial health over the coming period:

1. Varying levels of programme expenditure for 2020 eleging on when schools and tertiary
institutions open in the 5 operational countries in A&j and the ability to implement activities
in the context of social distancing measures

The impact of a drop in income from unrestricted sms compared to the target for the year

3. The extent to which funders agree CAMFED can chargeatipg costs to their grants
regardless of the level of programme spend

4. The impact of sterling exchange rate movements on afieg costs arising from the outcome
of Britain’s negotiations with the European Union on a &atbal at the end of the transition
period on 31st December 2020

Even in the worst-case scenario modelled, the chaxityld have enough reserves and unrestricted cash to
maintain operations through to December 2021.

The charity has put a business continuity plan and erisisagement strategy in place to cope with the evolving
nature of the COVID crisis, enhancing remote systesgerid the UK, US and Canada to offices in Africa, and
to review and adapt how components of CAMFED’s workcoatinue in the context of school closures, local
lockdowns and social distancing measures. Some acsividge continued, but with adaptations to delivery.

Regular communication has been maintained with donorstlom implications of COVID on contractual
compliance. This has also included discussions to asskrances that CAMFED can continue to charge
operating costs to grant contracts at budgeted levelsmythe COVID-19 crisis even if limited programmatic
spend can take place. Discussions are also underway switie grantees to obtain no-cost extensions if
contracted activities cannot be completed during cutrgrant agreement periods, with the possibility of re-
classifying some funds from programme activity budmetd to fund staff and overhead costs during the project
extension period.

At the time of writing, confirmed continued operaticgst support had been obtained from several key dsno

The charity has also reviewed planned unrestricted exigere for the current financial year and taken a
number of measures to help maintain financial healthludeg the following: placing an immediate freeze on
recruitment of new staff, considering the possibleed to drawdown on reserves over the coming period;
reducing fundraising expenditure budgets for 202dight of the expected short to medium term drop in
related income; and a review to see where overhead coatsbe reduced. Prior to the start of the COVIDs;ris
the strategic decision had been made to recruit a Faiging Director for CAMFED USA Foundation; the
successful candidate will take up this vacant positionire,Jand it is anticipated this role will focus on &ty

a rapid bounce to unrestricted giving through workiwgh high net worth individuals who have been less
impacted financially by the pandemic.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the figél picture during the current period of uncertainty,
and the financial modelling described above will bgtrently updated as the crisis evolves.

Having regard to the above, the Trustees believe irappate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
in preparing the financial statements.



Financial Policies

Reserves policy

CAMFED International’s Board of Trustees believe thaiikgeadequate liquid reserves enables the charity to
safeguard on-going commitments and operations, make kengr commitments for girls’ education and
protect the charity from risk of disruption at shorbtice due to a lack of funds and economic downturnd an
short term income volatility, while at the same timeseming that we do not retain income for longer than
required. The reserves target of £6m includes theofelihg: a) the number of girls and boys committed to
receive school fees as at 1st of January of 2020; dpnamitment to hold a minimum of 3 months’ and a
maximum of 6 monthscore expenditure; c) a provision for the risk ofrremncy fluctuations; and d) a
commitment to support young women who move into tierty education. (A detailed analysis of a) to d) is
shown on Note 22.) At the end of the year, CAMFEBD £i£I8 million, (2018: £6.9 million) in unrestridtiinds,
£1.8 million more than the reserves target of £6 miili Of the £7.8 million, £1 million was held forrr@ncy
risk. At the end of 2019, sufficient restricted fisywere held to meet the educational needs for chifdwho
are on the CAMFED programme, therefore no designegedrve was held for this purpose as at BeEcember
2019. The £1 million designated for currency riskiedrforward at the end of 2018 was drawn down by £0.4
million during the year due to unfavourable net foreigmchange movements; the designated reserve is
maintained in the 2019 financial statements due to omgovolatility of sterling and the current uncertaied

of the COVID-19 crisis. The unrestricted funds @ £illlion are enogh to cover CAMFED International’s target
reserve. The reserves level is under review as @fatie finalisation of the new Strategic Plan for 2020202
The Board believes this level of reserve is approgpaad adequate in line with CAMFED’s risksvabthe size

of operations of the charity, the continued requiremt for investment in fundraising, the increasing need
pay in advance for expenditure on grant contracts andushion CAMFED from the uncertainties of the COVID-
19 crisis.

Foreign exchange policy

In order to mitigate risks associated with not onlg tyolatility of local currencies in some countriesiils are
placed on transfers to CAMFED’s overseas offices.sFarmedtransferred overseas to cover spend up to one
month ahead, with reference to approved quarterly butggand after adjusting for existing cash balances held
overseas. Except in the case where a contract does @t &lo-mingling of funds, the transfer of funds for
programme activities is based on the calculated berafitising a specific currency, i.e. cash requirements
arising from cash flow forecasts received from cowdrin Africa are processed using a currency and bank
account that gives the best value at a given time.

Remuneration policy
CAMFED’s recruitment, evalim and pay policies are informed by the followinghpiples:

We are committed to recruiting, developing and retamiappropriately-qualified and fairly-paid staff
to lead and manage the work to achieve our aims.

We recruit our staff through open competition. Allropositions are advertised, including on our
website.

We are committed to developing leadership in the coiedrwhere we operate. Among those who
have reached key management and leadership positions MFRED are former beneficiaries of
CAMIED’s programmes, in line with our aim to transform #mployment prospects of those from the
poorest and most marginalised rural communities.

We evaluate all our staff through a transparent, rigorappraisal system, set out in the CAMFED
Evaluation Guide, developed in consultation with all staff internationally.

CAMFED’s CEO reports to, and is evaluated by, the CAMteEtational Board, in accordance with
CAMFED’s appraisal system.

CAMFED aims to pay its staff fairly, on the basis of redjgjualifications, performance, benchmarking,

and affordability for the organisation.



Independent assessors regularly benchmark CAMFED sakmik benefits against those of other
comparable organisations.
Pay and benefits for CAMFED’s CEO and CFO are sd®miutseration Committee (a subcommittee
of the CAMFED International Board), taking into considlenat

o Our need to attract and retain effective leadership ider the goals of our Strategic Plan;

o Our ability to pay;

o CAMFED’s performance and the individp@tformance of the senior staff, both over the short

and the long term.

Investment policy

The Board, through the Finance and Audit Committee d#ean the investments of the charity. The policy to
maximise returns on investments is balanced by the tshod long term financial plans of the charity as well
as an ethical investment policy. Investments consistoof main asset classes: short term operating funds,
reserve funds, restricted funds and endowment fun@lke investment objectives of each asset class are as
follows:

Short term operating funds: Funds intended to bedise cover short-term operating and program
expenses shall be invested with the objective ofsem¥ing asset value to cover operating expenses
and realizing earnings in a way that allows for immediideidity to meet CAMFED's ongoing
programmatic and operational needs. The funds may be tamied in a current account, call account
or invested in a short-term money market deposit acdotonbe used by CAMFED for day-to-day
operations. CAMFED Executive staff will take day todéajsions on how the funds are maintained
and invested and the Board will review and direct chanigeallocations/investments if necessary.
Reserve funds: CAMFED’s Board of Trustees believé&dleaing an dequate liquid reserve enables
the charity to safeguard on-going commitments and @tens, make long-term commitments for
girls’ education and protect the charity from risk a$miption at short notice due to a lack of funds,
economic downturns and / or short term income vol&iliwhile at the same time ensuring that the
charity does not retain income for longer than requiréddmedian target reserve of £6m has been set
by the Board of Trustees, striking an appropriate beéabetween the need to spend income when
received and maintaining operational integrity

Restricted funds: Restricted Funds shall be investéld sue regard to the compliance requirements
of each grant contract, with the objective of preservimgd enhancing the purchasing power of the
funds while ensuring that liquidity requirements caa tmet. This could be through using short-term
money market instruments and / or interest bearing cuntfecall / savings accounts in accordance with
the contract directive.

Endowment funds: The objective shall be to presdéhealong-term real purchasing power of the fund
while realizing appropriate investment income. CAMF&Dpts a total return strategy for its
endowment funds, an annual average of CPI plus 5%

Grant making policy

CAMFED International works with partner organisations tuattribute specific expertise to the execution of
its programmes.Grants payable to partner organisations are made in line @MMFED’s strategic objectives.
The grants contribute directly towards the developmaeunit the charity’s programmes by helping local
organisations provide sustainable benefits for commaeasitiand they are therefore considered part of
furthering CAMFED International’'s own objectivdSAMFED International monitors all grants in accordance
with the relevant partnership agreement.



Volunteering

CAMFED International is grateful for the invaluable imtksupport received from corporate bodies and
individuals during the year, representing an importaahtibution towards realising CAMFED Intetinaal’s
ambition for girls’ education in Africa.

In approving this Trustees’ Report, the Directors @ngstees are also approving the Strategic Report
included herein, in their capacity as Company Dirextor

Miranda Curtis
Chair of Trustees Date:



INDEPENDENT AUDIT®REPORT TO THE MEMBERS AND TRUSTEES OF CAMFEL
INTERNATIONAL

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Camfed Intaomatl for the year ended 31 December 2019 which
comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, Balariveets, Statement of Cashflows and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of signifigatounting policies. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable lamd United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The FinanciakfepStandard applicable in the UK and Republic
of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accogniractice).

In our opinion the financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the state of the group’ddahe charitable company’s affairs as at 31
December 2019 and of the group’s incoming resources application of resources, including its
income and expenditure for the year then ended,

have been properly prepared in accordance with Unitedgldom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and

have been prepared in accordance with the requiremeritdhe Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Internationtan8ards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are farttlescribed in the Auditor’s responsibilities the
audit of the financial statements section of our repdife are independent of the group in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our auditthe financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethieaponsibilities in accordance with these requirerisen
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtainedlfficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the follawi matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) reguirs to
report to you where:

the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accountintiie preparation of the financial statements is not
appropriate; or

the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements ideytified material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the group’s or the charitable camy’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve montieenf the date when the financial statements are
authorised for issue.

Other information

The trustees are responsible for the other informatiorhe other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the financitements and our auditor’s report thereonudopinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other mfation and, except to the extent otherwise expligit
stated in our report, we do not express any form ofuaasice conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statementsir responsibility is to read the other informatiand,

in doing so, consider whether the other informatiamaterially inconsistent with the financial statemeats
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appetwsbe materially misstated. If we identify such
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatensemte are required to determine whether there is a
material misstatement in the financial statements or a matkrhisstatement of the other information. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude tthere is a material misstatement of this other

information, we are required to report that fact.



We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the CompasiAct 2006
In our opinion based on the work undertaken in the g®iof our audit

the information given in the trustees’ report, whichcludes the directors’ report and the strategic
report prepared for the purposes of company law, tbe financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financiatements; and

the strategic report and the directors’ report includadthin the trustees’ reporhave been prepared
in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by excépn

In light of the knowledge and understanding of thegp and the charitable company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not idéieti material misstatements in the strategic report or
the directors’ report included within the trustees’ ref.

We have nothing to report in respect of the followimatters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

the parent company has not kept adequate accounting respod

the parent company financial statements are not in agreemeith the accounting records and
returns; or

certain disclosures of trustees' remuneration spiecifby law are not made; or

we have not received all the information and explanati@resrequire for our audit.

Responsibilities of trustees

As explained more fully in the trustees’ respondibs statement set out on page 23, the trustees (wdre
also the directors of the charitable company for therpases of company law) are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being da&tsthat they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the trustees determine is necegsar enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraaderror.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees ezeponsible for assessing the group’s or the chartabl
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, dgoh, as applicable, matterslaged to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting urtlesgrustees either intend to liquidate the charitable
company or to cease operations, or have no realistiaadtive but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit othe financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance abowthdr the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or eryr and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assyrlntis not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a matergdtatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material ifdividually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions ofragaken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities foretaudit of the financial statements is located on the

Financial Reporting Council’'s websiteaww.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilitiesThis description forms part
of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report
This report is made $ely to the charitable company’s members, as a body cooedance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has)heelertaken so that we might state to the



charitable company’s members those matters we are regfiio state to them in an auditor’s report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted Iayv, we do not accept or assume responsibility to argyo
other than the charitable company and the charitable gamy’s members as a body, for our audit work, for
this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Nicola May

Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of
Crowe U.K. LLP
Statutory Auditor
London



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

(Incorporating Income and Expenditure Account)
For Year ended 3december 2019



CONSOLIDATED AND CHARITY BALANCE SHEETS
For Year ended 3ecember 2019 Company Number: 02874653

Consolidated Consolidated
2019 2018

Fixed Assets

Intangible Fixed Assets 15 1,310 -
Tangible Fixed Assets 14 385,553 296,513
Investments 16 1,393,538 - 1,393,538
1,419,899

Current Assets

Stock 3,040 -

Short term deposits 11,155,197 359,712 11,041,114 -

Cash and bank balances 13,703,566 15,443,989 5,870,529 13,308,363
28,796,962 18,224,563 20,675,845 17,352,872

Creditors
Amounts falling within one year (12,478,576) (6,918,646) (7,177,928) (6,470,722)

(12,478,576) (6,018,646)  (7,177,928)  (6,470,722)

Net Current Assets 14,891,455

?;c:unts falling due after more than one - - (2,676.234)

NET ASSETS 15,422,553 8,926,196 12,241,582
FUNDS
Endowment funds 1,397,330 - 1,393,538
Restricted funds 6,188,145 2,030,324 3,010,966
Unrestricted funds
General reserve 6,837,078 5,895,872 6,837,078
Designated reserve 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000

TOTAL FUNDS 15,422,553 8,926,196 12,241,582

The parent charity’s net movement in funds for theyeras £11,901,8222018- £5,726,003).

The accounts were approved by the Trustees and autbdifier signature on and signed on its behalf by:

Miranda Curtis
Chair of Trustees Date:



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Notes to the Accounts
For Year ended 31December 2019

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Bank interest received

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Purchase of trademarks

Purchase of investments

Proceeds from sale of investments

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the repaytperiod
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

Change in cash and cash equivalents due to exchange matement

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the repogtiperiod

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the repogtiperiod:

Short term deposits
Cash and bank balances

24,858,763

15,803,701



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For Year ended 31December 2019

1. Registration
The charity is a private limited company (registerednbar 02874653) which is incorporated and
domiciled in the UK. The address of the registerdit®fs St Giles Court, 24 Castle Street, Cambr{diga,
0AJ, UK.

2. Accounting Policies

a) Accounting Convention
The accounts are prepared in accordance with Accountirdy Reporting by Charities: Statement of
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparieg #iccounts in accordance with the Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republiend (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015) -
(Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Financial ReportiniguStapplicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland
(FRS 102), the Charities Act 2011 and the Compani@®@&t The charity meets the definition of a public
benefit entity under FRS102. financial statements aeppred under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the inclusion of investments at fair marketlue, and on amccrual’sbasis. The principal
accounting policies, which have been applied conststehroughout the year, are set out below.

b)  Consolidation
The Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities (S@fd\Balance Sheet consolidate the Financial
Statements of the Charity and its nine subsidiary uraldrtgs (as set out in Note 3). The results of the
subsidiaries are consolidated on a line by line basisdyarate SOFA has been presented for the Charity
alone as permitted by Section 408 of the Companie<2B806.

c) Preparation of Accounts on a Going Concern Basis
CAMFED Internatiotia Board of Trustees have reviewed the key risksamzkrtainties emerging as a
result of the COVIRI crisis in the context of CAMFED's operations andthege affect both immediate
liquidity and longer term solvency.

The charity is funded through income from donations é&gacies, and income from charitable activities.
These grants and donations come from a variety of souritedyding statutory bodies, trusts and
foundations, corporates and individuals.

The trustees prepare annual budgets and forecasts iemia ensure there is adequate funding in place
to deliver charitable activities for the coming ye#ém addition, the Board in formulating its plan and
strategy for the future operations of the organisation tamsidered a period beyond that for which
formal budgets and forecasts are prepared.

Ongoing liquidity of the charity is dependent ondélrmain areas- maintaining levels of unrestricted
funding sufficient to cover the gap between total opeing costs and restricted funding for staff and
overheads; secondly, timely and full receipt of fufidsn restricted sources where these are received in
arrears; thirdly, the ability to recover operating cestom restricted contracts, whether or not related

programme activities can take place.



The COVINY9 pandemic has had a significant, immediate impact orctregity’s operations, and, at the
present time, it is not clear how long the currentccimstances are likely to last and what the long-term
impact will be.

Charitable expenditure has immediately reduced duehe tonstraints of the operating environment
caused by COVID-19; this also has a corresponding eifiecharitable income, where income from
restricted sources is dependent on delivering a papgme of activities that cannot, at present, be
completed. Some significant funders have agreed thAMEED can continue to charge staff and
overhead costs during the current period, even whererthis reduced charitable expenditure. Secondly,
due to economic uncertainties caused by the COVIDrA&B cthere has been an immediate decrease of
approximately 50% year-on-year in the level of unrestd donations from the public and major donors
in the months following the outset of the crisis iretkUK and US. The approved operational budget for
2020 included a conservative assumption that £3m umietstd income would be received from
individual giving and major donors during the year,duhsn recent income trends and fundraising plans;
if the recent trend in the reduction of unrestricteddome were to continue, a drawdown on reserves
will be required to meet ongoing operating costs.

In light of the impact that COVID-19 may have on tharith the trustees have carried out further
financial modelling based on a range of 4 scenariosapgtated through to 31st December 2021, 18
months beyond the date of the signing of the 2019 ficiahstatements. These projections consider the
possible impact of the COVID-19 crisis on organisatforaicial health through analysis of levels of cash,
reserves, income and expenditure over this periocrEn the worst-case scenario modelled, the charity
would have enough reserves and unrestricted cash totaai operations through to December 2021.

The charity has put a business continuity plan andscnignagement strategy in place to cope with the
evolving nature of the COVID crisis, enhancing remygtems beyond the UK, US and Canada to offices
in Africa, and to review and adapt how components of CEDIE work can continue in the context of
school closures, local lockdowns and social distancempnres. Some activities have continued, but with
adaptations to delivery.

Regular communication has been maintained with donorshenimplications of COVID on contractual
compliance. This has also included discussions to asskrances that CAMFED can continue to charge
operating costs to grant contracts at budgeted levelsimyrthe COVID-19 crisis even if limited
programmatic spend can take place.

The charity has also reviewed planned unrestrictedeexjiture for the current financial year and taken
a number of measures to help maintain financial healtkluding the following: placing an immediate
freeze on recruitment of new staff, considering thespible need to drawdown on reserves over the
coming period; reducing fundraising expenditure betdgfor 2020 in light of the expected short to
medium term drop in related income; and a review t@ sghere overhead costs can be reduced.

The Board will continue to review and monitor theditial picture during the current period of
uncertainty, and the financial modelling described abovéle frequently updated as the crisis evolves.



d)

Having regard to the above, the Trustees believe itrappate to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Fund Accounting

Income received during the year was accounted for et three primary classes as required in trust
law: unrestricted funds, representing funds to beesp at the Trustees' discretion in furtherance of
CAMFEDR charitable objectivesestricted funds, which can only be lawfully usedd specific charitable
purpose and endowment funds, invested to make comesistincome and /or income and capital
withdrawals for specific needs or to further CAMFE@perations. Unrestricted funds were further
analysed between designated reserve (comprising uniaett funds that have been set aside by the
Trustees for particular purposes, the aim and use of edegignated fund is set out in Note 22). The
nature and purpose of restricted, unrestricted and dgsited funds are explained in Note 22.

Income

Income recognition

In line with Charity SORP 2015 (FRS 102) guidanceijrat kevel, all income is accounted for when
CAMFED has entitlement to the funds, the amount can lantified, and receipt of the funds is probable.
Consideration is made whether a grant imposes specitirde performance conditions on CAMFED or
not. A grant that is subject to performance-related coiutis received in advance of delivering the goods
and services required by that condition, or is subjecunmet conditions wholly outside the control of
CAMFED, is accounted for as a liability and shown erb#tiance sheet as deferred income and the
deferred income is released to income in the repagtjperiod in which the performance-related or other
conditions that limit recognition are met. When terms conditions are within CAMFEDcontrol and
there is sufficient evidence that they will be m#ten the income must be recognised. Where there are
no performance conditions, income is recognised wtiengrant proceeds are receivable.

Donated goods and services are recognised as incorea Wiey are received and used by CAMFED. The
goods and services are measured at fair value to CAMFED.

Donations and legacies
Donationsinclude all income received by the charity thatrissubstance, a gift made to it on a voluntary
basis and it can either be unrestricted or restrict&dich income does not provide any significant benefit
to the donor in return for their payment other thanah CAMFED should use the funds for the furtherance
of its charitable activities. In 2019, donations reeeilny CAMFED related to the following classifications:
Donations and gifts made by individuals and corporatiomsuding any related tax refund or Gift
Aid claimed on gifts made by individuals.
Grants of a general nature provided by charitable fourmtai which are not conditional on
delivering certain levels or volumes of a serviceupply of charitable goods.
Donatedgoods for the charity’s own use.

Legacies like donations, are a gift made on a voluntary basis tleat be pecuniary, residuary or
reversionary. Recognition of legacy income is degeman the type of legacy. Pecuniary legacies are
recognised as receivable when notification is receiupdn granting of probate. Residuary legacies are
recognised as receivable when entitlement is establislznd the value can be measured after probate
is granted. Reversionary legacies take effect subjetiaqrior right of a named person or persons to



f)

receive the benefit of those assets or income praetiliby them during his or her lifetime. The gift pass
absolutely to CAMFESS the “reversionary beneficiary” dhe death of the named person or persons.

Income from Charitable Activities
Income from charitable activities includes income eakriom the supply of goods or services under
contractual arrangements and from performance- related gsamhich have conditions that specify the
provision of particular goods or services to be pded by CAMFED. In 2019, Income from Charitable
Activities received by CAMFED related to the foltlmxclassifications:
Contractual payments from government or public authestiand other parties which fund the
provision of particular goods or services. DFID furdsived under the Zindbwe Girls’ Secondary
Education have been included in this classification.
Performance-related grants where the income is conditl on delivering certain outcomes. DFID
funds under Girls’ Education Challenge Fund Transitigimslow (GEQ) have all been included
under this classification.

Expenditure
Expenditure is included on an accruals basis.

Fundraising expenditure

Fundraising expenditure includes all expenditure inedrby CAMFED to raise funds for its charitable
purposes. It includes the costs of all fundraising a@iwiand events. Fundraising costs incurred include
costs associated with:

Seeking donations, grants and legacies;

Staging events, licence fees and other related costs;

Advertising, marketing and direct mail materials, inahgdpublicity costs not associated with
educational material designed wholly or mainly to flsttCAMFEB purposes;

Expenditure on charitable activities

Expenditure on charitable activities includes all castairred by CAMFED in undertaking activities that
further its charitable aims for the benefit of its beficiaries, including those support costs and costs
relating to the governance of the charity apportion@dcharitable activities. Costs involved in negotiating
contracts or grants that require CAMFED to provide djgecharitable services are also regarded as part
of the cost of carrying out that activity. These costslude UK level of effort involved in supporting
charitable activities. From the perspective of cause effielct, indirect costs are first allocated to activities
that cause or drive them and where this is not possithey are apportioned based on a fair and equitable
basis. Support costs are detailed in Note 6.

Governance costs

Governance costs are the costs associated with the gawes arrangements of CAMFED. These costs
include internal and external audit, legal advice for Teas, and costs associated with constitutional and
statutory requirements, including Trustee meetings,ithéps to visit CAMFE®work overseas and costs
for preparing statutory accounts. The costs also inclGddVIFEBtaff attending Trustees’ meetings and
administrative support provided for Trustees’ activiti@ge governance costs incurred during the year are
included in support costs.



9)

h)

)

k)

Depreciation of Tangible Fixed Assets
Assets costing more than £250 are included in the frenstatements as fixed assets at cost less
depreciation.

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assétsates calculated to write off the cost of each asset
systematically over its expected useful life:

Office equipment: 33% of original cost
Fixtures & fittings: 33% of original cost
Vehicles: 25% of original cost

Fixed assets used within specific projects and purdhdsem funds donated for those projects are
capitalised.

Investments

Donations of stocks and shares are immediately sold aaydyains and losses arising on disposal or other
revaluation of investments are taken through the StateimnehFinancial Activities (SOFA). Longer term
investments are included on the balance sheet at thearket value at the end of the financial year.
Realised and unrealised gains/(losses) are credited/{eépto the Statement of Financial Activities in the
year in which they arise.

Foreign Currency Translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated intolistgrat the rate prevailing at the date of the most
recent transfer of funds.

Pension Scheme Arrangements

The company makes contributions to private pension plafrall staff. The pension charge included in the
financial statements represents contributions paid to #eheme. The company’s liability is limited to the
amount of the contributions.

Operating Leases
Rentals applicable to operating leases, where substaytélithe benefits of ownership remain with the
lessor, are charged in the Income and Expenditure @uc@s incurred.

Stock
Stock consists of purchased goods for resale. Starekgalued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estilon uncertainty

In the application of the accounting policies, Trustees required to make judgement, estimates, and
assumptions about the carrying value of assets and liegsilithat are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions asedbon historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results mdfedirom these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewedorongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which théineate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and futyseriods if the revision affected current and futurerfmels.



Judgements made by the Trustees, in the application e$ehaccounting policies that have significant
effect on the financial statements and estimates withgngicant risk of material adjustment in the next
year are deemed to be in relation to the depreciatiorasbf tangible fixed assets and are discussed above.

In the view of the Trustees, no assumptions conceritileguture or estimation uncertainty affecting assets
or liabilities at the balance sheet date are likelyasult in a material adjustment to their carrying anmisi
in the next financial year.

n) Financial instruments
Basic financial instruments are initially recognised at geantion value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost with the exception of investments whiate held at fair value. Financial assets held at
amortised cost comprise cash at bank and in hand, togethién trade and other debtors. A specific
provision is made for debts for which recoverabilgyin doubt. Cash at bank and in hand is defined as all
cash held in instant access bank accounts and used asngadpital. Financial liabilities held at amortised
cost comprise all creditors except social securiteotaxes and deferred income.

Forward contracts:
Forward contracts are used as an instrument to managesogyr risk where necessary. Gains or losses on
these contracts are recognised in line with FRS 1@faguae.

Debtors:
Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settletreanount due after any trade discount offered.

Cash at bank and in hand:
Cash at bank and cash in hand includes cash and short ighty fiquid investments.

Creditors and provisions:

Creditors and provisions are recognised where the théias a present obligation resulting from a past
event that will probably result in the transfer of fds to a third party and the amount due to settle the

obligation can be measured or estimated reliably. @ogd and provisions are normally recognised at their
settlement amount after allowing for any trade discounuiise.

0) Post balance sheet events
Since the year end, the COVID-19 pandemic has takenghaidlly. The pandemic has had a significant
immediate impact on the Charity’s operations and at thesant time, it is not clear how long the current
circumstances are likely to last and what the long-tempact will be.The Trustees and management team
are actively managing the impact as detailed in the goamgcern statement in accounting policy 1(c) above.
Material adjustment to the overall financial statemengsniot considered necessary.



3. Overseas Organisations

CAMFED operates as a global coalition of equal partfershich CAMFED International is the coordinating
hub, overseen by CAMFED International Board of Tesst€AMFED is registered as a national non-profit
organisation in each country of operation with the osight of a national Board of Trustees. A representative
from CAMFED International sits on each national Boardderao reinforce coordination and governance
between structures. The relationship between CAMHA&®Brnational and each CAMFED national office is
underpinned by a Master Cooperative Agreement entdoetiveen the parties. The Agreement is intended to
reinforce the principles that underpin the governanceCAMFED as an international coalition of separate
entities with a shared vision and mission and setsinuine comprehensive agreement:

The nature of the relationship between CAMFED Inteamati and each national office and the

structure of the CAMFED Coalition; and

The terms of co-operation between CAMFED Internati@mal each national office regarding the

implementation of Development Projects and expenditof Donor Funds.

Codify the key funding, governance, compliance andtrobrarrangements between CAMFED

International and each national office in relation to Bpment Projects and the expenditure of

Donor Funds.

The effect of this agreement is that the CAMFED l@tgonal Board has the ability to exercise control oves th
national offices, and as such their figures are conatgid into the group accounts.

Below are the global CAMFED coalition legal entities:

CAMFED Internationglcompany limited by guarantee incorporated under Registrar of Companies
for England and Wales Company No0.2874653. Registetedhei Charity Commission for England and
Wales Charity N0.1029161).

CAMFED Ghanéncorporated under the Companies Code, 1963, Ghagetexed Charity nhumber
3921).

CAMFED Tanzaniicorporated under the Companies Act 2002, Tanzamjestered Charity number
1730).

CAMFED Malaw{incorporated under the Trustees Incorporation Act, &l registered Charity
number NGO/R/12/01).

CAMFED Zambiéincorporated as a company limited by guarantee under @mnpanies Act 1994,
Zambia registered Charity number RNGO 101/0019/13).

CAMFED Zimbabw@Trust), (incorporated under the Companies Actjsegtion number 1157/82 and
Private Voluntary Organisation Act Chapter 17:05).

CAMFED USA FoundaticmUSA 501 (c¢)(3) EIN-52033897 not for profit organization (incorporated
under the General Corporation Law of the State of Dalaj

CAMFED Canadgncorporated under Canada Not-for-profit Corporations &~P Act) Corporation
No. 452846-8. Business No. 844988659RR0001).

CAMFED International NPC South Afrit@mpany registered with South Africa Companies and
Intellectual Property Commission (CIPA), registratiomber 2016/32240/08).

CAMFED Australi@Campaign for Female Education Australia Ltd, a non-grofitpany limited by
guarantee registered in New South Wales with companylmemCAN 631991770).

4. Grants Payable to Partner Organizations
There were no grants to other organisations in 204@®1@ - None)



5. Income

Income from donations and legacies and charitable aawitdr the year fall into the following categories:

6. Raising Funds
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8. Support Costs

_Overhead _Foreign
costs Exchange
£ £ £

Staffcosts

Multiply girls' educational
opportunities

Enable educated women to leac
change

Extend our Influence and Impac
Evaluation and Research

Raising funds

Total costs allocated

The support costs incurred by the overseas entitiesfgpsrt their charitable expenditure are included withi
direct programme costs.

CAMFED operates a full cost recovery system that altbergull quantum of costs involved in programme
activities computed by adding all cost elements, i.adiad direct costs and indirect costs as a charge to tha
activity. From the perspective of cause and effeatjriect costs are first allocated to activities that cause or
drive them and where this is not possible, they arpagioned based on a fair and equitable basis.

9. Governance



10. Trustees
a) Fees

No Trustees were paid any remuneration or receiveg @imer benefits from an employment with the charity
or related entities (2018 none).

b) Expenses

Expenses including travel reimbursed to and / or gardTrustees for activities in furtherance of CAMEED
work were as follows:

Ann Cotton various advocacy trips (£3,157) (£5,38018).
Trustee’s other expenses, including travel to Boastimgs (£741) (£28 in 2018)
c) Insurance Indemnity

CAMFED took out an indemnity insurance at a total ob$tl,738 (2018: £1,779) as cover for the following:
Trustee’s indemnity up to the value of £500,000 angpByers Liability up to the value of £10,000,000.

d)  Conflict of interest

No Trustee had any personal interest in any contractamgaction entered into by the charity during the year
(2018-none). The Head of HR & Administration of CAMFED dddlaterest which was with Adam Segrave,
a family member, who provided transport services (26:1&2,995, 2018- £3,280). These transactions were
approved by the Board of Trustees in line with CAM&E@Nflict of interest policy.

e) Donations

Total donations from trustees were £334,235 (2018: £344), none of which had conditions requiring a
change to existing activities or plans.

11. Auditor's remuneration



12. Employees



d) Remuneration and benefits received by Key managemeetrsonnel

Key management personnel are CAMFED staff to whom th&tebBs have delegated significant planning,
directing and controlling authority or responsibilityhe total employment costs of Key Management
Personnel during the year was £680,229 (2018: £73%5,99
The following positions within CAMFED are classifigfleysManagement Personnel:

Chief Executive Officer, Lucy Lake

Chief Financial Officer, Luxon Shumba

Deputy Executive Director/Director of Operations, K&tmith

Executive Director Africa, Angeline Murimirwa

Executive Director CAMFED Canada, Dolores Dickson

Executive Director CAMFED USA Foundation, Brooke Hutchinson

The remuneration and benefits received by individuatl® were employed in the above positions was as
follows:

13 Taxation

As a charity, CAMFED International is exempt from tedxxcome and gains under sections 466 to 493 of the
Corporation Tax Act 2010, to the extent that all incasapplied for charitable purposes. No tax charges have
arisen in the charity in the current or prior year.



14. Tangible Fixed Assets



15. Intangible Fixed Assets

16. Investments



17. Debtors

Consolidated
2019
£

3,073,664

Investment income
Gift Aid

Grants receivable

Other debtors
Prepayments, Stamps, Staff loans
Balances owed by CAMFED subsidiaries

418,196
265,721

3,938,199 2,417,822 3,764,202

18. Creditors—- Amounts falling due within one year

4,041,469



19. Creditors—- Amounts Falling Due After One Year

Consolidated
2019



20. Lease commitments - Operating leases

At 31 December 2019, CAMFED had the following comemits under non-cancellable operating leases:
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22. Unrestricted Funds Reserves
General funds represent any free funds of the chasibych are not designated for particular purposes.

Designated funds represent funds earmarked by the Bo&itrustees to be used for 12 months school going
and tertiary costs for girls and young women in thegramme as at F1December 2019.



23. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows for the yearded 31December 2019

a) Reconciliation of net income/ (expenditure) to netash flow from operating activities

24. Endowment Funds
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27. Activities by Fund in Previous Year

Income from:

Income from donations and legacies
Income from charitable activities
Investments income

Other

Total income

Expenditure on:

Raising funds

Charitable activities

Multiply girls' educational opportunities
Enable educated women to lead change
Extend our Influence and Impact
Evaluation and Research

Total charitable activity costs

Total expenditure

Net gains and losses on investments
Net income/(expenditure) before transfers
Transfers between funds

Other recognized gains/(losses)
Net movement of funds

Reconciliation of funds
Total funds brought forward

Total funds carried forward

Notes Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds
£ £

6,895,872 2,030,324
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